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          1                      P-R-O-C-E-E-D-I-N-G-S

          2             THE DEPUTY CLERK:  CIVIL ACTION 98-1232, UNITED

          3   STATES VERSUS MICROSOFT CORPORATION, AND 98-1233, STATE OF

          4   NEW YORK, ET AL. VERSUS MICROSOFT CORPORATION.

          5             PHILLIP MALONE, STEPHEN HOUCK, AND DAVID BOIES FOR

          6   THE PLAINTIFFS.

          7             JOHN WARDEN, STEVEN HOLLEY, RICHARD UROWSKY AND

          8   WILLIAM NEUKOM FOR THE DEFENDANTS.

          9             THE COURT:  MR. BOIES.

         10             MR. BOIES:  YOUR HONOR, THE PLAINTIFFS CALL AS

         11   THEIR NEXT WITNESS MR. GARRY NORRIS OF IBM.

         12             THE COURT:  VERY WELL.

         13             MR. BOIES:  MR. MALONE WILL HANDLE THIS WITNESS

         14   FOR THE PLAINTIFFS.

         15             THE COURT:  ALL RIGHT.

         16             MR. MALONE:  GOOD MORNING, YOUR HONOR.

         17             THE COURT:  GOOD MORNING.

         18             (GARRY NORRIS, PLAINTIFFS' WITNESS, SWORN.)

         19                        DIRECT EXAMINATION

         20   BY MR. MALONE:

         21   Q.  GOOD MORNING, MR. NORRIS.

         22   A.  GOOD MORNING, MR. MALONE.

         23   Q.  TO BEGIN, WOULD YOU PLEASE STATE YOUR FULL NAME AND

         24   SPELL YOUR FIRST AND LAST NAMES FOR THE RECORD, PLEASE?

         25   A.  GARRY DEMARCO NORRIS.  G-A-R-R-Y.  AND THE LAST NAME IS
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          1   SPELLED N-O-R-R-I-S.

          2   Q.  AND, MR. NORRIS, WHERE ARE YOU CURRENTLY EMPLOYED?

          3   A.  IBM, RESEARCH TRIANGLE PARK, NORTH CAROLINA.

          4   Q.  HOW LONG HAVE YOU WORKED FOR IBM?

          5   A.  SEVENTEEN YEARS.

          6   Q.  COULD YOU DESCRIBE, BEFORE I ASK YOU ABOUT YOUR

          7   EXPERIENCE AT IBM -- JUST BRIEFLY DESCRIBE FOR THE COURT

          8   YOUR EDUCATIONAL BACKGROUND?

          9   A.  CERTAINLY.  I HAVE A BS IN ACCOUNTING FROM THE

         10   UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH CAROLINA IN 1980, ATTENDED ONE YEAR OF

         11   LAW SCHOOL AT THE UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH CAROLINA, AND HAVE AN

         12   MBA FROM DUKE UNIVERSITY, 1990.

         13   Q.  CAN YOU BEGIN BY DESCRIBING YOUR CURRENT POSITION WITH

         14   IBM?

         15   A.  YES.  I AM THE PROGRAM DIRECTOR WITHIN THE NETWORKING

         16   HARDWARE DIVISION FOR NETWORK INTERFACE CARDS, SALES AND

         17   MARKETING IN EUROPE AND THE UNITED STATES.

         18   Q.  HOW LONG HAVE YOU HELD THAT POSITION?

         19   A.  SINCE APPROXIMATELY JULY OF LAST YEAR.

         20   Q.  OKAY.  AND WHAT DID YOU DO PRIOR TO THAT?

         21   A.  PRIOR TO THAT, I WAS DIRECTOR OF MARKETING IN THE

         22   NETWORKING HARDWARE DIVISION, RESPONSIBLE FOR OUR ACCESS

         23   LINE OF PRODUCTS.

         24   Q.  AND WHAT WAS YOUR POSITION PRIOR TO BEING DIRECTOR OF

         25   MARKETING FOR THE NETWORKING HARDWARE DIVISION?
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          1   A.  I WAS PROGRAM DIRECTOR OF SOFTWARE STRATEGY AND

          2   STRATEGIC RELATIONS IN THE IBM PERSONAL COMPUTER COMPANY.

          3   Q.  CAN YOU TELL US APPROXIMATELY WHAT TIME PERIOD YOU HELD

          4   THAT POSITION IN THE IBM P.C. COMPANY?

          5   A.  FROM MARCH OF 1995 TO THE END OF MARCH OR FIRST OF APRIL

          6   OF 1997.

          7   Q.  WE'LL COME BACK AND SPEND A LOT OF TIME TALKING ABOUT

          8   YOUR EXPERIENCES IN THAT POSITION WORKING FOR THE P.C.

          9   COMPANY.

         10             BEFORE WE DO THAT, THOUGH, COULD YOU JUST DESCRIBE

         11   WHAT POSITION YOU HELD PRIOR TO BECOMING PROGRAM DIRECTOR

         12   FOR SOFTWARE STRATEGY?

         13   A.  I WAS THE WORLDWIDE GROUP OEM MANAGER FROM 1993 TO 1995

         14   IN THE PERSONAL SOFTWARE PRODUCTS DIVISION.

         15   Q.  AND CAN YOU DESCRIBE JUST VERY BRIEFLY WHAT YOUR JOB

         16   RESPONSIBILITIES WERE IN THAT POSITION?

         17   A.  I HAD RESPONSIBILITY FOR NEGOTIATING GLOBAL LICENSE

         18   AGREEMENTS WITH P.C. MANUFACTURERS FOR THE OS/2 OPERATING

         19   SYSTEM.

         20   Q.  YOU WERE TRYING TO SELL OS/2 TO P.C. OEM'S; IS THAT

         21   CORRECT?

         22   A.  THAT'S CORRECT.

         23   Q.  LET'S RETURN NOW TO THE POSITION YOU DESCRIBED AS

         24   PROGRAM DIRECTOR FOR SOFTWARE STRATEGY AND STRATEGIC

         25   RELATIONS IN THE P.C. COMPANY.
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          1             CAN YOU BEGIN BY TELLING THE COURT WHAT THE P.C.

          2   COMPANY IS WITHIN IBM -- HOW IT FITS INTO THE OVERALL

          3   CORPORATE STRUCTURE?

          4   A.  P.C. COMPANY IS A DIVISION OF IBM THAT DEVELOPS,

          5   MANUFACTURES, MARKETS AND SELLS PERSONAL COMPUTERS TO

          6   CONSUMERS AND COMMERCIAL CUSTOMERS.

          7   Q.  AND WHO ARE THE P.C. COMPANY'S PRIMARY OR MAJOR

          8   COMPETITORS IN THAT WORK?

          9   A.  COMPAQ, DELL AND HP, ALONG WITH SEVERAL OTHER WHAT WE

         10   CALLED SECOND-TIER AND THIRD-TIER P.C. MANUFACTURERS,

         11   NUMBERING IN THE THOUSANDS, WHO MANUFACTURE OFF-THE-SHELF

         12   COMPONENTS AND SHIP HARDWARE AND SOFTWARE OUT TO CUSTOMERS.

         13   Q.  WITHIN THE IBM P.C. COMPANY, ARE THERE VARIOUS WHAT YOU

         14   CALL BRANDS?

         15   A.  YES, THERE ARE.  WE HAVE SEVERAL BRANDS IN THE P.C.

         16   COMPANY.  ONE IS THE CONSUMER BRAND THAT SELLS PRIMARILY IN

         17   THE RETAIL MARKET TO CONSUMERS.  WE HAVE THE COMMERCIAL

         18   DESKTOP BRAND OF PRODUCTS, WHICH SELLS TO COMMERCIAL

         19   CUSTOMERS, BOTH LARGE AND SMALL.

         20             WE HAVE THE THINKPAD BRAND OF PRODUCTS, WHICH ARE

         21   A LINE OF MOBILE PRODUCTS.  AND WE ALSO HAVE THE NETFINITY

         22   SERVER BRAND AS WELL.

         23   Q.  AND EACH OF THOSE ARE PARTS OF THE P.C. COMPANY ITSELF?

         24   A.  YES.

         25   Q.  CAN YOU BEGIN BY DESCRIBING, JUST KIND OF OVERALL, YOUR
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          1   PRIMARY RESPONSIBILITIES AS PROGRAM DIRECTOR FOR SOFTWARE

          2   STRATEGY AND STRATEGIC RELATIONS IN THE P.C. COMPANY?

          3   A.  CERTAINLY.  I HAD RESPONSIBILITY FOR SETTING SOFTWARE

          4   DIRECTION ACROSS THE P.C. COMPANY AND IMPLEMENTING STRATEGY

          5   FOR SOFTWARE AND PRELOAD STRATEGY ACROSS THE P.C. COMPANY.

          6             IN THAT POSITION, I HAD RESPONSIBILITY FOR LEADING

          7   THE NEGOTIATIONS FOR OUR WINDOWS AGREEMENTS WITH MICROSOFT

          8   IN 1995 AND 1996 AND PART OF 1997.

          9             I ALSO HAD RESPONSIBILITY FOR NEGOTIATIONS WITH

         10   LOTUS, PRIOR TO THEIR ACQUISITION BY IBM, AND FOR A SHORT

         11   TIME THEREAFTER, AS WELL AS OTHER ANCILLARY

         12   RESPONSIBILITIES.

         13   Q.  OKAY.  AND IN THE COURSE OF YOUR RESPONSIBILITIES, WHO

         14   WITHIN THE IBM P.C. COMPANY DID YOU REPORT TO?

         15   A.  I HAD A COUPLE OF DIFFERENT MANAGERS OVER THE YEARS.

         16             HARRY NICOL WAS MY FIRST MANAGER.  I REPORTED TO

         17   HIM.  HE WAS THE DIRECTOR OF SYSTEMS AND TECHNICAL STRATEGY

         18   FOR THE P.C. COMPANY, LATER ON BECOMING VICE-PRESIDENT AT

         19   THE SAME POSITION.  AND I REPORTED TO HIM DIRECTLY.

         20             LATER ON, OZZIE OSBORNE CAME INTO THE JOB, AND HE

         21   WAS THE VICE-PRESIDENT OF SYSTEMS MARKETING.  I CONTINUED TO

         22   REPORT TO OZZIE.

         23   Q.  IN THE COURSE OF YOUR DUTIES, WOULD YOU PREPARE YOUR

         24   BOSSES FOR MEETINGS AND CONVERSATIONS AND OTHER THINGS THAT

         25   THEY WOULD HAVE WITH MICROSOFT, FOR EXAMPLE?
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          1   A.  YES, I DID.

          2   Q.  AND WOULD YOU ATTEND MEETINGS AND PARTICIPATE IN

          3   TELEPHONE DISCUSSIONS WITH THEM WITH MICROSOFT?

          4   A.  I DID.

          5   Q.  IN THE COURSE OF YOUR WORK, PARTICULARLY IN DEALING WITH

          6   MICROSOFT WHEN YOU WERE AT THE P.C. COMPANY, DID YOU EVER

          7   ESCALATE ISSUES OR MATTERS TO HIGHER LEVELS WITHIN THE IBM

          8   P.C. COMPANY?

          9   A.  I CERTAINLY DID.

         10   Q.  AND, JUST GENERALLY, UNDER WHAT KIND OF CIRCUMSTANCES

         11   WOULD YOU DO THAT?

         12   A.  AT ANY TIME WHEN I COULD NOT COME TO AN AGREEMENT WITH

         13   MICROSOFT, OR WE REACHED AN IMPASSE IN NEGOTIATIONS, OR I

         14   NEEDED TO INVOLVE SENIOR EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT FOR IBM, FROM

         15   TIME TO TIME I WOULD BRIEF THEM AND THEN ASK THEM TO COME

         16   INTO THE NEGOTIATIONS OR TO THE DISCUSSIONS.

         17   Q.  WHEN THAT WOULD HAPPEN, WHAT, IF ANY, CONTINUED

         18   INVOLVEMENT AND PARTICIPATION IN THOSE NEGOTIATIONS WOULD

         19   YOU KEEP?

         20   A.  I CONTINUED TO BRIEF THEM, EXECUTE ACTIONS THAT THEY'D

         21   ASK ME TO GO EXECUTE, CONTINUE TO PARTICIPATE IN CONFERENCE

         22   CALLS, AND GO BACK AND FORTH TO MICROSOFT.  IT VARIED.

         23   Q.  NOW, I BELIEVE YOU SAID YOUR JOB DURING THIS TIME IN

         24   PART WAS LEADING NEGOTIATIONS WITH MICROSOFT.  CAN YOU GIVE

         25   THE COURT AN IDEA OF HOW OFTEN OR HOW EXTENSIVELY YOU HAD
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          1   CONTACT WITH REPRESENTATIVES OF MICROSOFT DURING THOSE TWO

          2   YEARS?

          3   A.  WEEKLY.  SOMETIMES ON A DAILY BASIS, EITHER IN PERSON,

          4   IN REDMOND, OR WITH THE MICROSOFT EXECUTIVES COMING TO

          5   RALEIGH, OR IN CONFERENCE CALLS, AND ALSO BY CORRESPONDENCE.

          6   Q.  AND CAN YOU DESCRIBE JUST BRIEFLY WHO THE PRIMARY

          7   REPRESENTATIVES AT MICROSOFT WERE WITH WHOM YOU DEALT IN THE

          8   COURSE OF YOUR JOB?

          9   A.  THEY CHANGED OVER TIME, BUT THEY WERE MARK BABER,

         10   B-A-B-E-R --

         11             THE COURT:  I'M SORRY?

         12             THE WITNESS:  MARK BABER.

         13             THE COURT:  BABER?

         14             THE WITNESS:  B-A-B-E-R, AND WOLFGANG STRUSS --

         15   AND I BELIEVE IT'S S-T-R-U-S-S, I THINK -- JOACHIM KEMPIN,

         16   LISA CLAYTON, TED HANNEM, AND BENGTE ACKERLIND.

         17   BY MR. MALONE:

         18   Q.  AND MR. ACKERLIND'S FIRST NAME IS B-E-N-G-T-E; IS THAT

         19   CORRECT?

         20   A.  I THINK THAT'S CORRECT, YES.

         21   Q.  OKAY.  DID YOU EVER MAKE OR PREPARE NOTES OF SOME OF

         22   YOUR CONVERSATIONS OR YOUR MEETINGS WITH THE REPRESENTATIVES

         23   OF MICROSOFT?

         24   A.  YES.  I PREPARED BOTH HANDWRITTEN NOTES, AS WELL AS

         25   COMPUTER NOTES.
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          1   Q.  DID YOU KEEP THOSE NOTES?

          2   A.  I DID.

          3   Q.  I'D LIKE TO COME BACK, THROUGHOUT THE COURSE OF YOUR

          4   TESTIMONY, AND ASK YOU ABOUT SPECIFIC NOTES THAT YOU MAY

          5   HAVE TAKEN DURING VARIOUS CONVERSATIONS.

          6             BEFORE I DO THAT, THOUGH, LET ME BACK UP AND ASK

          7   YOU, WHEN YOU FIRST BEGAN YOUR JOB AS PROGRAM DIRECTOR OF

          8   SOFTWARE STRATEGY AND STRATEGIC RELATIONS AT THE P.C.

          9   COMPANY, WHAT WAS THE FIRST MAJOR ISSUE WITH WHICH YOU HAD

         10   DEALINGS WITH MICROSOFT?

         11   A.  THAT WOULD HAVE BEEN THE MARKET DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

         12   WHICH WAS PRESENTED TO IBM IN THE OCTOBER 1994 TIMEFRAME.

         13   Q.  AND SO IT WAS FIRST PRESENTED TO IBM BEFORE YOU BEGAN

         14   WITH THE P.C. COMPANY?

         15   A.  THAT'S CORRECT.

         16   Q.  WHAT, IF ANYTHING, DID YOU DO WHEN YOU CAME INTO THE JOB

         17   TO PREPARE YOURSELF TO DO THE JOB AND TO GIVE YOU THE

         18   INFORMATION YOU NEEDED TO DEAL WITH MICROSOFT AND CARRY OUT

         19   YOUR DUTIES?

         20   A.  AT THE TIME, WE HAD A MICROSOFT RELATIONSHIP MANAGER OUT

         21   IN REDMOND, DEAN DUBINSKY, WHO MANAGED THE DAY-TO-DAY

         22   OPERATIONS WITH MICROSOFT.  I ASKED HIM TO COME IN TO

         23   RALEIGH TO GIVE ME A BRIEFING, ALONG WITH SEVERAL OTHER

         24   PEOPLE THAT HAD DIRECT OR INDIRECT CONTACT WITH MICROSOFT.

         25             THEY INCLUDED PEOPLE LIKE IBM COUNSEL -- DAVID
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          1   WALSH, MY NEW BOSS, HARRY NICOL, AND A FEW OTHERS -- DIANA

          2   ROMERO AND SOME OTHERS THAT I CAN'T REMEMBER AT THE MOMENT.

          3   BUT WE HAD DISCUSSIONS REGARDING THE PAST RELATIONSHIP WITH

          4   MICROSOFT AND THE EXISTING RELATIONSHIP.

          5   Q.  AND AS PART OF PREPARING YOURSELF TO DO YOUR JOB AND

          6   LEARNING ABOUT BOTH THE PAST AND THE PRESENT RELATIONSHIP OF

          7   MICROSOFT, WHAT, IF ANY, KIND OF DOCUMENTS OR RECORDS DID

          8   YOU REVIEW TO HELP YOU?

          9   A.  I REVIEWED PAST AGREEMENTS -- EXISTING AGREEMENTS THAT

         10   WE HAD IN FRONT OF US AT THE TIME.  I ALSO REVIEWED

         11   PRESENTATIONS THAT WERE MADE IN THE 1994 OR EARLY 1995

         12   TIMEFRAME.

         13   Q.  CAN YOU DESCRIBE FOR THE COURT WHAT YOU LEARNED, THROUGH

         14   THIS PROCESS OF PREPARING TO BE ABLE TO DO YOUR JOB, ABOUT

         15   THE STATUS AND THE HISTORY OF IBM P.C. COMPANY'S

         16   RELATIONSHIP WITH MICROSOFT UP TO THAT POINT?

         17   A.  THE STATUS AT THAT TIME, AS REPORTED TO ME IN THE MARCH

         18   BRIEFING, WAS THAT THE RELATIONSHIP WAS POOR.  THAT IT WAS

         19   SOMEWHAT CONTENTIOUS.  THAT THERE WAS VERY -- LITTLE-TO-NO

         20   EXECUTIVE CONTACT OR MINIMAL CONTACT BETWEEN THE TWO

         21   COMPANIES.

         22   Q.  AND WHAT, IF ANY, SIGNIFICANCE WAS THERE TO THE FACT

         23   THAT THERE WAS LITTLE-OR-NO EXECUTIVE CONTACT BETWEEN IBM

         24   AND MICROSOFT?  HOW DID THAT AFFECT, IF IT DID, THE P.C.

         25   COMPANY'S BUSINESS?
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          1   A.  WELL, CERTAINLY WE NEEDED TO CONTINUE TO LICENSE

          2   MICROSOFT PRODUCTS.  AND WITH THE WINDOWS 95 ANNOUNCEMENT

          3   APPROACHING, WE CERTAINLY WANTED TO MAKE SURE THAT WE HAD A

          4   GOOD RELATIONSHIP WITH MICROSOFT IN ORDER TO NEGOTIATE A

          5   GOOD LICENSE FOR THE DISTRIBUTION OF WINDOWS 95.

          6   Q.  IN THE COURSE OF PREPARING TO BE ABLE TO DO YOUR JOB,

          7   DID YOU LEARN HOW IT WAS THAT THE P.C. COMPANY HAD COME TO

          8   HAVE SUCH A POOR RELATIONSHIP WITH MICROSOFT?

          9   A.  YES, I DID.

         10   Q.  CAN YOU TELL THE COURT WHAT IT WAS THAT YOU LEARNED?

         11   A.  WHEN I WAS BRIEFED IN MARCH OF 1995, THE TEAM TOLD ME

         12   THAT SOMETIME IN THE SECOND HALF OF 1994, THAT THERE WERE --

         13   THAT THERE WAS AN ALLIANCE PROPOSAL THAT WAS MADE BY

         14   MICROSOFT AND DISCUSSED BETWEEN MICROSOFT AND IBM REGARDING

         15   IBM BECOMING A FRONTLINE PARTNER, WHICH MEANT THAT MICROSOFT

         16   WOULD GIVE CERTAIN REDUCED ROYALTIES, ADDITIONAL TERMS AND

         17   CONDITIONS AND ADDITIONAL MARKETING AND SUPPORT TO IBM, IN

         18   RETURN FOR WHICH IBM WOULD HAVE TO REDUCE, DROP OR ELIMINATE

         19   OS/2, PRIMARILY PROMOTE MICROSOFT PRODUCTS, AND, IN FACT,

         20   LEAD WITH MICROSOFT PRODUCTS.

         21   Q.  AND OS/2 AT THAT POINT WAS WHAT?

         22   A.  OS/2 WAS THE COMPETITIVE OPERATING SYSTEM TO WINDOWS 3.1

         23   AND ALSO LATER TO WINDOWS 95.

         24   Q.  DID YOU LEARN WHAT, IF ANYTHING -- WHAT, IF ANY,

         25   REACTION IBM HAD TO MICROSOFT'S PROPOSAL THAT, IN RETURN FOR
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          1   THE THINGS YOU DESCRIBED, IT EITHER -- IT REDUCE OR

          2   ELIMINATE ITS PROMOTION AND SHIPPING OF OS/2?

          3   A.  MY UNDERSTANDING FROM THE MARCH BRIEFING IS THAT THE

          4   SENIOR EXECUTIVES CONSIDERED IT AND WENT BACK TO MICROSOFT

          5   IN A FALL COMDEX MEETING IN NOVEMBER OF 1995 WHERE THEY

          6   INFORMED MICROSOFT THAT WE WOULD NOT EXCLUSIVELY PROMOTE

          7   MICROSOFT PRODUCTS, THAT WE WOULD NOT LEAD WITH MICROSOFT

          8   PRODUCTS, THAT WE WOULD NOT DROP OR ELIMINATE SHIPMENTS OF

          9   OS/2, AND THAT WE WOULD, IN FACT, BEGIN SHIPPING OS/2 IN AS

         10   MANY SYSTEMS AS WE POSSIBLY COULD, THROUGH A PROJECT THAT WE

         11   CALLED DUAL BOOT WHERE WE INSTALLED WINDOWS 3.1 AND WE

         12   INSTALLED OS/2 ON THE SAME SYSTEM, WHICH GAVE USERS A CHOICE

         13   OF SELECTING WHICH OPERATING SYSTEM THEY WANTED.

         14   Q.  NOW, AT THE TIME THAT YOU WERE JUST BEGINNING YOUR JOB

         15   AND YOU WERE LEARNING THINGS YOU NEEDED TO KNOW, WHAT, IF

         16   ANY, CONSEQUENCES DID YOU LEARN HAD RESULTED FROM IBM'S

         17   DECISION NOT TO ACCEPT MICROSOFT'S FRONTLINE PARTNERSHIP

         18   OFFER AND NOT TO REDUCE OR ELIMINATE ITS COMPETITION THROUGH

         19   OS/2?

         20   A.  THE TEAM INFORMED ME THAT THERE WERE SEVERAL

         21   CONSEQUENCES OR ACTIONS THAT WERE TAKEN AS A RESULT OF THE

         22   REJECTION OF THE OFFER.

         23             FIRST OF ALL, SINCE IBM IS SUCH A LARGE P.C.

         24   MANUFACTURER AND CONSIDERED A TOP-TIER MANUFACTURER, THEY

         25   HAD THREE ACCOUNT MANAGERS FROM MICROSOFT THAT HANDLED THE
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          1   IBM RELATIONSHIP ON A DAY-TO-DAY BASIS.

          2             MY UNDERSTANDING IS THAT THE TEAM WAS REDUCED FROM

          3   THREE PEOPLE TO ONE.  THAT IBM WAS INFORMED THAT IT WOULD BE

          4   TREATED AS ANY OTHER OEM.  AND WHAT THE TEAM MEANT BY THAT

          5   IS THAT THERE ARE SEVERAL TIERS OF P.C. MANUFACTURERS, BUT

          6   THAT THEY WOULD BE TREATED NOT LIKE A COMPAQ, OR A DELL, OR

          7   AN HP, BUT LIKE ANY ONE OF THE HUNDREDS OF OTHER P.C.

          8   MANUFACTURERS THAT SIMPLY ARE OFF-THE-SHELF MANUFACTURERS

          9   THAT SHIP PRODUCTS OUT.

         10             THE STARTING PRICE FOR WINDOWS 95 WOULD BE $75

         11   VERSUS THE $9 WHICH WE ENJOYED ON WINDOWS 3.1.  AND THERE

         12   WERE SOME OTHER ACTIONS WHICH I CAN'T RECALL AT THE MOMENT.

         13   Q.  THE FIRST THING YOU MENTIONED WAS THAT THE MICROSOFT

         14   ACCOUNT TEAM OR ACCOUNT REPRESENTATIVES THAT WERE DEALING

         15   WITH IBM WOULD BE CUT -- WERE CUT FROM THREE TO ONE.  WHAT,

         16   IF ANY, IMPACT DID THAT HAVE ON THE IBM P.C. COMPANY'S

         17   ABILITY TO DO ITS BUSINESS?

         18   A.  WELL, WITH FOUR BRANDS IN THE P.C. COMPANY, THERE NEEDS

         19   TO BE LOTS OF DAILY CONTACT BECAUSE OF THE SOFTWARE

         20   DEVELOPMENT THAT GOES ON INSIDE THE P.C. COMPANY AND THE

         21   RELATIONS THAT WE NEEDED TO HAVE WITH MICROSOFT IN ORDER TO

         22   TEST OUR SYSTEMS, MANUFACTURE OUR SYSTEMS AND SHIP THEM OUT

         23   TO CUSTOMERS.

         24             WITHOUT DAILY CONTACT, WE WERE NOT ABLE TO GET

         25   THINGS DONE, LIKE SHIPPING OUR SYSTEMS TO MICROSOFT, AND
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          1   GETTING THEM ON WHAT'S CALLED THE HARDWARE COMPATIBILITY

          2   TEST LIST IN A TIMELY FASHION.

          3             SO WE WERE LOSING TIME TO MARKET AS A RESULT.

          4   Q.  NOW, AFTER YOU RECEIVED THIS INFORMATION TO PREPARE YOU

          5   TO DO YOUR JOB, OVER THE NEXT TWO YEARS THAT YOU WERE

          6   DEALING WITH MICROSOFT AS THE LEAD NEGOTIATOR, DID MICROSOFT

          7   REPRESENTATIVES EVER TELL YOU PERSONALLY THAT IBM SHOULD

          8   REDUCE OR ELIMINATE ITS SHIPMENT OF ANY PRODUCTS THAT

          9   COMPETED WITH MICROSOFT?

         10   A.  ON SEVERAL OCCASIONS.  I REMEMBER SEVERAL SPECIFIC

         11   OCCASIONS THAT I WAS TOLD IBM CAN HAVE COMPAQ'S DEAL WHEN IT

         12   QUITS COMPETING.  I WAS TOLD, "AS LONG AS YOU'RE COMPETING

         13   WITH MICROSOFT, YOU WILL SUFFER IN THE MARKET IN TERMS OF

         14   PRICES, TERMS AND CONDITIONS, MARKETING SUPPORT PROGRAMS,

         15   AND TECHNICAL SUPPORT PROGRAMS."

         16   Q.  I WOULD LIKE TO COME BACK DURING THE COURSE OF YOUR

         17   TESTIMONY AND ASK YOU ABOUT A NUMBER OF SPECIFIC OCCASIONS

         18   WHERE THAT MAY HAVE HAPPENED.

         19             BEFORE WE DO THAT, LET ME TURN TO THE FIRST

         20   SPECIFIC NEGOTIATION.  YOU MENTIONED THE 1995 MARKET

         21   DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT OR MDA; IS THAT CORRECT?

         22   A.  YES.

         23   Q.  BEFORE WE BEGIN, CAN YOU JUST EXPLAIN VERY BRIEFLY FOR

         24   THE COURT WHAT -- IN THE MICROSOFT/IBM RELATIONSHIP, WHAT AN

         25   MDA WAS?
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          1   A.  YOUR HONOR, THE MARKET DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT IS AN

          2   AGREEMENT THAT WAS PRESENTED TO IBM AND OTHER P.C.

          3   MANUFACTURERS THAT LISTS A SET OF ACTIVITIES THAT A P.C.

          4   MANUFACTURER CAN PERFORM, PRIMARILY FOR THE BENEFIT OF

          5   MICROSOFT, BUT FOR WHICH THE P.C. MANUFACTURER WOULD RECEIVE

          6   ROYALTY REDUCTIONS AGAINST THE PRICE OF WINDOWS 95.

          7             AS YOU COMPLETED THOSE ACTIVITIES, ONCE MICROSOFT

          8   DECIDED WHETHER YOU WERE ENTITLED TO THEM, THEN THOSE

          9   REDUCTIONS WERE APPLIED AGAINST YOUR PRICE OF WINDOWS 95.

         10   Q.  YOU SAY ONCE MICROSOFT DECIDED IF YOU WERE ENTITLED.

         11   WHOSE DISCRETION OR WHOSE RESPONSIBILITY WAS IT TO DECIDE

         12   WHETHER THE IBM P.C. COMPANY HAD MET ANY OF THE MILESTONES

         13   IN THE MDA?

         14   A.  IT WAS MICROSOFT'S SOLE DISCRETION WHETHER OR NOT WE

         15   MEET THOSE MILESTONES.

         16   Q.  AND DID YOU, IN YOUR TIME AT IBM, CONSIDER THE MDA'S TO

         17   BE SIMPLY DISCOUNTS OFF THE WINDOWS LICENSE ROYALTY PRICE?

         18   A.  NO, ABSOLUTELY NOT.

         19   Q.  WHY NOT?

         20   A.  THE MDA WAS A VEHICLE THAT MICROSOFT USED IN ORDER FOR

         21   US TO PERFORM ACTIVITIES THAT BENEFITED THEM IN MANY WAYS.

         22   IT WAS A VEHICLE THAT ALSO GAVE ROYALTY REDUCTIONS THAT

         23   IMPOSED COSTS ON THE P.C. MANUFACTURER IN ORDER TO ATTAIN

         24   THE ROYALTY REDUCTIONS.

         25             THERE WERE SEVERAL PROVISIONS IN IT, FOR EXAMPLE,
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          1   THAT WOULD HAVE REQUIRED US TO REDUCE OR ELIMINATE OUR

          2   SHIPMENTS OF OS/2, ONE OF WHICH I CAN SPECIFICALLY RECALL

          3   WHERE IT SAID, "MAKE WINDOWS 95 THE STANDARD OPERATING

          4   SYSTEM OF YOUR COMPANY."

          5   Q.  NOW, THE "IT" YOU'RE REFERRING TO THERE -- WAS THAT A

          6   SPECIFIC PROPOSED MDA THAT MICROSOFT SENT TO IBM AT SOME

          7   POINT?

          8   A.  YES.  I AM SPEAKING OF THE 1995 MDA, WHICH WAS PRESENTED

          9   TO US IN 1994.

         10   Q.  OKAY.  AND HOW IS IT THAT YOU KNOW ABOUT BOTH WHAT THAT

         11   MDA SAID AND WHAT MAY HAVE HAPPENED CONCERNING IT?

         12   A.  IN MY BRIEFING IN MARCH 1995, I ASKED TO SEE THE

         13   DOCUMENTS THAT WE HAD AGREED WITH MICROSOFT UPON AT THAT

         14   POINT IN TIME.  THE TEAM SHOWED ME THE ORIGINAL MARKET

         15   DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT THAT WAS PRESENTED TO THEM IN OCTOBER

         16   OF 1994.

         17             THEY ALSO SHOWED ME AN AGREEMENT THAT THEY

         18   EVENTUALLY SIGNED IN FEBRUARY OF 1995, AND SOME ADDITIONAL

         19   PROPOSALS WHICH WE HAD MADE.

         20             THE OCTOBER '94 MARKET DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

         21   LISTED $27 IN DISCOUNTS THAT IBM HAD THE OPPORTUNITY TO TRY

         22   TO ACHIEVE.  IBM DETERMINED THAT WE COULD ONLY MEET $8 OF

         23   THOSE DISCOUNTS AGAINST THAT $75 PRICE VERSUS THE 27, FOR

         24   VARIOUS REASONS, INCLUDING SOME OF WHICH WOULD REQUIRE US TO

         25   REDUCE, ELIMINATE OR DROP SHIPMENTS OF OS/2, AND OTHERS OF

                                                                              19

          1   WHICH WOULD HAVE REQUIRED US TO DO SOME PROCESS AND

          2   OPERATIONAL CHANGES THAT WE COULDN'T DO IN THE TIME FRAME

          3   THEY WERE ASKING US TO DO THEM IN.

          4   Q.  LET ME ASK YOU TO LOOK AT WHAT'S BEEN MARKED AS

          5   GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT 2132.  AND PLEASE TAKE A MOMENT TO LOOK

          6   THAT OVER.

          7             TAKE AS MUCH TIME AS YOU NEED, THOUGH, TO LOOK AT

          8   IT.  BUT ONCE YOU'RE DONE, MY QUESTION IS, HAVE YOU SEEN --

          9   DO YOU RECOGNIZE THIS EXHIBIT?

         10   A.  YES, I DO.

         11   Q.  AND WHAT IS IT?

         12   A.  THIS IS THE 1995 MARKET DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, WHICH

         13   LISTS THE ACTIVITIES THAT WERE REQUIRED FOR IBM TO PERFORM

         14   IN ORDER TO ACHIEVE THE ROYALTY REDUCTIONS AGAINST THE PRICE

         15   OF $75 FOR WINDOWS 95.

         16   Q.  IS THIS THE PROPOSED MDA THAT WAS SENT TO IBM BY

         17   MICROSOFT ON OCTOBER 21ST OF 1994?

         18   A.  THAT'S WHAT IT APPEARS TO BE, YES.

         19             MR. MALONE:  YOUR HONOR, I'D OFFER EXHIBIT 2132.

         20             MR. PEPPERMAN:  NO OBJECTION, YOUR HONOR.

         21             THE COURT:  GOVERNMENT'S 2132 IS ADMITTED.

         22                                   (WHEREUPON, PLAINTIFFS'

         23                                   EXHIBIT NUMBER 2132 WAS

         24                                   RECEIVED IN EVIDENCE.)

         25   BY MR. MALONE:
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          1   Q.  MR. NORRIS, LOOK, IF YOU WOULD, PLEASE, AT THE COVER

          2   LETTER THAT IS THE FIRST PAGE.  AND THERE THE MICROSOFT

          3   ACCOUNT -- THE IBM ACCOUNT MANAGER FOR MICROSOFT WRITES,

          4   "PLEASE FIND THE ATTACHED IBM AND MICROSOFT MARKET

          5   DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (MDA) FOR WINDOWS 95.  IBM'S BASE

          6   ROYALTY FOR WINDOWS 95 IS $75."

          7             DO YOU SEE THAT?

          8   A.  YES, I DO.

          9   Q.  AND WAS THAT YOUR UNDERSTANDING OF WHAT MICROSOFT

         10   PROPOSED AS THE BEGINNING ROYALTY RATE FOR IBM FOR

         11   WINDOWS 95?

         12   A.  YES, IT WAS.

         13   Q.  AND THEN IF YOU WOULD, PLEASE, LOOK AT THE SECOND PAGE

         14   ABOUT HALFWAY DOWN.  THERE IS A SERIES OF BULLET POINTS THAT

         15   BEGIN "WINDOWS 95-BASED P.C. MILESTONE ACTIVITIES."

         16   A.  YES.

         17   Q.  COULD YOU DESCRIBE, NOT SPECIFICALLY, BUT IN GENERAL,

         18   WHAT ARE THE ACTIVITIES THAT ARE LISTED HERE?  WHAT IS THE

         19   PURPOSE OF THESE IN THE MDA?

         20   A.  THESE ARE THE MILESTONE ACTIVITIES WHICH IBM WAS

         21   REQUIRED TO MEET IN ORDER TO ACHIEVE THE ASSOCIATED ROYALTY

         22   REDUCTION PER ACTIVITY.

         23   Q.  AND LOOK, IF YOU WOULD, PLEASE, AT THE NEXT PAGE OF THE

         24   PROPOSED MDA, THE ONE WITH THE NUMBER 81835 AT THE BOTTOM.

         25   DO YOU SEE THAT?
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          1   A.  YES, I DO.

          2   Q.  THE FOURTH BULLET POINT UP FROM THE BOTTOM, WHICH READS

          3   "ADOPT WINDOWS 95 AS THE STANDARD OPERATING SYSTEM FOR IBM,"

          4   AND THEN "$3.00."

          5   A.  YES.

          6   Q.  HOW DOES THAT RELATE TO WHAT YOU WERE DESCRIBING A

          7   MOMENT AGO ABOUT MILESTONE ACTIVITIES THAT WOULD REDUCE THE

          8   WINDOWS ROYALTY IF IBM DID THINGS THAT WOULD REDUCE OR

          9   ELIMINATE THEIR COMPETITION THROUGH OS/2?

         10   A.  THIS WAS CERTAINLY ONE OF THE ACTIVITIES FROM THIS

         11   ENTIRE MDA THAT WOULD HAVE REQUIRED US TO REDUCE, ELIMINATE

         12   OR DROP OS/2.  ADOPTING WINDOWS 95 AS THE STANDARD OPERATING

         13   SYSTEM FOR IBM WOULD MEAN NOT HAVING IBM AS THE STANDARD

         14   OPERATING SYSTEM, OR IBM'S OS/2.

         15   Q.  LET ME ASK YOU ABOUT A COUPLE MORE ON THIS PAGE.  RIGHT

         16   NEAR THE TOP, THERE IS THE ENTRY THAT SAYS "EXCEED.

         17   WINDOWS 95 IS THE ONLY OS MENTIONED IN ADVERTISEMENT."

         18             DO YOU SEE THAT?

         19   A.  YES, I DO.

         20   Q.  AND WHAT ROYALTY REDUCTION WOULD YOU RECEIVE IF YOU ONLY

         21   MENTIONED WINDOWS 95 AND DIDN'T MENTION AT ALL IBM'S OWN

         22   OS/2 OPERATING SYSTEM?

         23   A.  IT WOULD BE $1 PER SYSTEM.  AND TO QUANTIFY IT, JUST SO

         24   YOU UNDERSTAND THE IMPACT TO US, WE WERE SHIPPING BETWEEN 5

         25   AND 6 MILLION SYSTEMS AT THIS POINT PER YEAR.  THAT WAS
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          1   WORTH $5 MILLION TO IBM.

          2   Q.  AND I BELIEVE YOU SAID -- AND CORRECT ME IF I'M WRONG --

          3   THAT THE TOTAL ROYALTY REDUCTIONS THAT MICROSOFT WAS

          4   PROPOSING IN THIS MDA PROPOSAL THAT WOULD HAVE REQUIRED IBM

          5   TO REDUCE OR ELIMINATE THEIR COMPETITION THROUGH OS/2 WAS $8

          6   PER COPY; IS THAT CORRECT?

          7   A.  THAT'S CORRECT.  THERE ARE THREE OTHER PROVISIONS THAT

          8   AMOUNT TO $8, WHEN YOU COMBINE THEM AS A WHOLE, THAT WOULD

          9   HAVE REQUIRED US TO REDUCE, DROP OR ELIMINATE OS/2 FROM IBM.

         10   Q.  AND DID IBM, IN FACT, AGREE TO THOSE PROVISIONS?

         11   A.  WE COULD NOT AGREE TO THOSE PROVISIONS, NO.

         12   Q.  AND, AGAIN, QUANTIFYING IT OUT ACROSS THE ENTIRE VOLUME

         13   OF P.C.'S SHIPPED, AS YOU DID A MOMENT AGO, WHAT WAS THE

         14   OVERALL IMPACT OF YOUR UNWILLINGNESS TO AGREE TO LIMIT OR

         15   REDUCE OS/2 COMPETITION?

         16   A.  CERTAINLY THE MINIMUM IMPACT WOULD HAVE BEEN $8 PER

         17   LICENSE.  IT COMES TO $40 MILLION OR AS MUCH AS $48 MILLION

         18   OVER A 12-MONTH PERIOD OF TIME.

         19   Q.  LET ME JUST ASK YOU ABOUT ONE MORE SPECIFIC ONE HERE.

         20   AND THAT'S THE SECOND BULLET POINT DOWN ON THE PAGE THAT

         21   WE'RE ON, 81835, THAT AGAIN SAYS "EXCEED.  WINDOWS 95 IS

         22   ONLY OS MENTIONED IN THE ADVERTISEMENT."

         23             DO YOU SEE THAT?

         24   A.  YES, I DO.

         25   Q.  IS THAT SIMILAR TO THE ONE WITH COMPARABLE LANGUAGE THAT
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          1   WE JUST LOOKED AT?

          2   A.  YES, THE DIFFERENCE BEING ONE IS IN YOUR COLLATERALS OR

          3   YOUR MARKETING AND SALES MATERIALS AND THE OTHER IS IN

          4   ADVERTISEMENTS, PRINT ADVERTISEMENTS, TELEVISION

          5   ADVERTISING, AND WHAT HAVE YOU.

          6   Q.  NOW, OVER THE COURSE OF THE NEGOTIATIONS FOR THIS MDA,

          7   AND EVEN AFTER IT WAS SIGNED, BECAUSE IBM WAS UNABLE TO

          8   RECEIVE THESE ROYALTY REDUCTIONS THAT WOULD HAVE REQUIRED IT

          9   TO REDUCE ITS COMPETITION, DID YOU DO ANYTHING TO TRY TO

         10   GAIN ADDITIONAL REDUCTIONS OR MAKE UP FOR THAT AMOUNT?

         11   A.  THE TEAM INFORMED ME THAT THERE WAS A PROVISION IN THE

         12   1995 MDA THAT ALLOWED FOR US TO OFFER ADDITIONAL

         13   OPPORTUNITIES FOR MDA REDUCTIONS.  WE HAD TO DO THAT BY THE

         14   END OF FEBRUARY, AS I RECALL AT THIS TIME.

         15             THE TEAM DID THAT.  AND THAT'S WHEN I BECAME THE

         16   MOST DIRECTLY INVOLVED, ONCE THOSE WERE OFFERED.

         17   Q.  AND CAN YOU TELL US, JUST GENERALLY, WHAT WAS THE

         18   OUTCOME OF YOUR PROPOSALS OF ADDITIONAL MDA -- POSSIBLE MDA

         19   REDUCTIONS TO MICROSOFT?

         20   A.  I BELIEVE IN MAY AND THEN AGAIN IN DECEMBER, WE WERE

         21   ABLE TO GET SOME ADDITIONAL MDA ITEMS ADDED.  I THINK IT WAS

         22   $5 AROUND THE MAY TIMEFRAME, WHICH NOW GAVE US A TOTAL OF

         23   13, AND THEN ANOTHER TWO THAT WE QUALIFIED FOR IN DECEMBER,

         24   WHICH NOW GAVE US 15.

         25   Q.  AND THE FIVE AND THE TWO THAT YOU WERE ABLE TO
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          1   EVENTUALLY NEGOTIATE WERE OUT OF HOW MUCH THAT YOU PROPOSED

          2   TO MICROSOFT?

          3   A.  WE ACTUALLY ASKED FOR ANOTHER $23 WORTH OF REDUCTIONS.

          4   AND WE GOT SEVEN.

          5   Q.  OKAY.  ONCE THE 1995 MARKET DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT WAS

          6   SIGNED AND THE FOLLOW-UP NEGOTIATIONS HAD BEEN UNDERTAKEN,

          7   DID YOU, AT SOME POINT, BEGIN NEGOTIATING WITH MICROSOFT

          8   DIRECTLY FOR THE WINDOWS 95 LICENSE ITSELF?

          9   A.  YES, I DID.

         10   Q.  AND CAN YOU TELL THE COURT APPROXIMATELY WHEN THAT

         11   PROCESS BEGAN?

         12   A.  LATE MARCH OR EARLY APRIL PERHAPS.  WE RECEIVED A

         13   STANDARD WINDOWS 95 LICENSE AGREEMENT.  I THINK IT WAS THE

         14   16TH OF MARCH, IF MY MEMORY SERVES ME CORRECTLY.

         15   Q.  AND BEFORE WE GET INTO THE DETAILS, CAN YOU JUST GIVE AN

         16   OVERVIEW OF -- WHAT WAS YOUR ROLE IN THE NEGOTIATIONS -- THE

         17   BACK-AND-FORTH WITH MICROSOFT OVER WINDOWS 95?

         18   A.  I WAS THE LEAD NEGOTIATOR FOR IBM.

         19   Q.  AND WITH WHOM AT MICROSOFT WERE YOU PRIMARILY

         20   NEGOTIATING?

         21   A.  MARK BABER.

         22   Q.  AND ANYONE ELSE THAT YOU WOULD DEAL WITH FROM TIME TO

         23   TIME?

         24   A.  JOACHIM KEMPIN.  ON THE WINDOWS 95 ONLY AT THIS POINT?

         25   Q.  YES.
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          1   A.  MARK BABER AND JOACHIM KEMPIN.

          2   Q.  CAN YOU DESCRIBE JUST GENERALLY HOW THE NEGOTIATIONS

          3   PROCEEDED FOR THE FIRST COUPLE OF MONTHS AFTER YOU RECEIVED

          4   THE PROPOSED STANDARD WINDOWS 95 LICENSE AGREEMENT?

          5   A.  ONCE WE'D BEGUN TO ANALYZE THE STANDARD AGREEMENT, WE

          6   ANALYZED IT AND PUT TOGETHER A LIST OF WHAT WE TERMED THINGS

          7   THAT WE HAD TO GO BACK TO MICROSOFT TO NEGOTIATE.

          8             WE CAME UP WITH A LIST OF APPROXIMATELY 38 OPEN

          9   ITEMS, WHICH WERE TERMS AND CONDITIONS THAT WE EITHER COULD

         10   NOT AGREE WITH OR HAD TO NEGOTIATE TO TRY TO GET SOME

         11   AGREEMENT FROM MICROSOFT ON.

         12             OVER THE NEXT TWO MONTHS, WE WERE ABLE TO

         13   NEGOTIATE THOSE 38 ITEMS DOWN TO APPROXIMATELY TEN ITEMS.

         14   SO WE'RE NOW SITTING IN THE MAY/JUNE TIMEFRAME.

         15   Q.  AND OVER THE COURSE OF THE FIRST COUPLE OF MONTHS, THE

         16   PROCESS YOU'VE JUST DESCRIBED, HOW WOULD YOU CHARACTERIZE

         17   THE COURSE OR THE PROGRESS OF THESE NEGOTIATIONS?

         18   A.  WE WERE MAKING GOOD PROGRESS.  AS I SAID, WE WERE ABLE

         19   TO REDUCE THAT OPEN ITEM LIST FROM 38 TO TEN.  WE WERE BOTH

         20   NEGOTIATING IN GOOD FAITH, GOING BACK AND FORTH TRYING TO

         21   GET THE ITEMS DOWN TO WHERE THE TERMS WOULD BE AGREEABLE TO

         22   BOTH PARTIES.

         23             SO I WOULD SAY THEY WERE GOING ALONG SMOOTHLY.

         24   Q.  AND DID THAT PACE OR THAT COURSE OF NEGOTIATIONS CHANGE

         25   AT ANY POINT?
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          1   A.  VERY MUCH SO.  SIGNIFICANTLY.

          2   Q.  AND APPROXIMATELY WHEN DID YOU NOTICE A CHANGE?

          3   A.  AROUND THE MIDDLE OF JUNE TIMEFRAME, I BEGAN TO SEE A

          4   SLOWDOWN.  MICROSOFT HAD BECOME NONRESPONSIVE TO MANY OF OUR

          5   REQUESTS.

          6   Q.  AND CAN YOU DESCRIBE IN JUST A LITTLE MORE DETAIL WHAT

          7   IT WAS THAT YOU NOTICED WHEN YOU REALIZED THAT THEY WERE

          8   BECOMING UNRESPONSIVE OR THAT THINGS WERE PROGRESSING

          9   DIFFERENTLY THAN THEY HAD BEEN?

         10   A.  FOR THE FIRST TIME, NO RETURNED PHONE CALLS.  WE WERE

         11   SENDING FAXES OF WHAT WE CALL RED-LINE AGREEMENTS.  AND

         12   RED-LINE AGREEMENTS ARE WHERE WE STRIKE OUT LANGUAGE THAT WE

         13   DIDN'T WANT IN THE DRAFT AGREEMENT, SEND IT BACK TO

         14   MICROSOFT EITHER BY FAX OR ELECTRONICALLY, AND EXPECTED RED

         15   LINES TO COME BACK WITH THEIR AGREEMENT, OR FURTHER RED

         16   LINES.

         17             THOSE HAD EITHER COME TO A HALT OR WERE COMING

         18   BACK VERY SLOWLY.

         19             THE REPEATED PHONE CALLS WERE NOT RETURNED, AND A

         20   FEW OTHER THINGS THAT I CAN'T REMEMBER AT THE MOMENT.

         21   Q.  WHAT, IF ANYTHING, DID YOU DO WHEN YOU REALIZED THAT

         22   NEGOTIATIONS HAD SLOWED DOWN SIGNIFICANTLY?

         23   A.  NOW, IN JULY, ONCE I REALIZED THAT WE HAD COME TO AN

         24   IMPASSE APPARENTLY, I DECIDED THAT I NEEDED TO ESCALATE THE

         25   MATTER TO MY SENIOR MANAGEMENT.  AND I WANTED THEM TO BECOME
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          1   INVOLVED SO THAT THEY COULD GET IN TOUCH WITH MICROSOFT'S

          2   SENIOR MANAGEMENT TO SEE IF WE COULDN'T RESOLVE WHAT THE

          3   ISSUES WERE, WHICH WE DIDN'T KNOW AT THE TIME.

          4   Q.  AND WHY DID YOU BELIEVE IT WAS NECESSARY OR IMPORTANT

          5   ENOUGH TO ESCALATE THIS MATTER TO MORE SENIOR MANAGEMENT IN

          6   IBM?

          7   A.  THE WINDOWS 95 CODE WAS DUE TO BE RELEASED TO

          8   MANUFACTURING SOMETIME IN THE JULY TIMEFRAME AND WOULD BE

          9   LAUNCHED ON AUGUST 24TH.  WE WERE TOLD BY MICROSOFT THAT WE

         10   WERE THE ONLY P.C. MANUFACTURER IN THE WORLD THAT HADN'T

         11   SIGNED THE LICENSE AGREEMENT FOR WINDOWS 95.

         12             BILL, IN FACT, HAD ANNOUNCED THAT THEY WOULD BE

         13   SHIPPING ON AUGUST 24TH.  THERE WERE UPGRADE PROGRAMS THAT

         14   WERE ALREADY ANNOUNCED IN WHAT WE CALLED THE CHANNEL -- THE

         15   CHANNELS OF DISTRIBUTION -- THAT HAD WINDOWS 3.1 SYSTEMS ON

         16   THEM.  AND OUR COMPETITORS WERE OFFERING UPGRADES AND HAD

         17   THE RIGHTS TO DO A LICENSE FROM MICROSOFT.

         18             WE COULDN'T DO THE SAME THING.  WE WERE AT A VERY

         19   BIG COMPETITIVE DISADVANTAGE.  WE WERE IN DANGER OF MISSING

         20   THE VERY IMPORTANT FALL BACK-TO-SCHOOL MARKET.  THE UPGRADE

         21   PROGRAM MEANT THAT THE RETAIL CHANNEL SALES OR INVENTORY OF

         22   THE WINDOWS 3.1 SYSTEMS, WHICH WE HAD IN THE CHANNEL, WOULD

         23   BE RETURNED TO IBM.  SO I WAS VERY CONCERNED ABOUT OUR

         24   COMPETITIVE POSTURE.

         25   Q.  GIVEN THAT CONCERN, WHAT DID YOU DO?  WHAT ACTION DID
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          1   YOU TAKE TO TRY TO ESCALATE THE MATTER?

          2   A.  I HAD A REVIEW WITH MY SENIOR EXECUTIVES TO INFORM THEM

          3   OF MICROSOFT'S NONRESPONSIVENESS.  AND I ALSO INFORMED THEM

          4   OF THE TEN OPEN ISSUES THAT WE HAD AT THAT POINT IN TIME

          5   THAT WERE PREVENTING US -- OR THAT WE NEEDED TO NEGOTIATE IN

          6   ORDER TO COME TO AN AGREEMENT.

          7   Q.  DID YOU PREPARE ANY MATERIAL OR ANY INFORMATION TO BRIEF

          8   THEM ABOUT THE PROBLEM THAT HAD ARISEN?

          9   A.  YES.  I PREPARED E-MAILS TO FILE AND OTHER HANDWRITTEN

         10   NOTES IN ORDER TO PREPARE FOR THE CONFERENCE CALL AND OUR

         11   MEETING THAT WE WERE HAVING OVER THE NEXT FEW DAYS.

         12   Q.  LET ME ASK YOU TO TAKE A LOOK AT GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT

         13   2199, WHICH APPEARS TO BE A JULY 19TH, 1995 E-MAIL FROM G.

         14   NORRIS TO G. NORRIS.  PLEASE TAKE A LOOK AT THAT, IF YOU

         15   WOULD.

         16             DO YOU RECOGNIZE EXHIBIT 2199?

         17   A.  YES, I DO.

         18   Q.  AND WHAT IS IT?

         19   A.  IT IS AN E-MAIL THAT I PREPARED TO MYSELF IN PREPARATION

         20   FOR BRIEFINGS WITH MY SENIOR EXECUTIVES.

         21   Q.  AND DID YOU PREPARE THIS ON OR ABOUT JULY 19TH OF '95?

         22   A.  IT APPEARS THAT I DID, BASED ON THE DATE.

         23             MR. MALONE:  YOUR HONOR, I WOULD OFFER 2199.

         24             MR. PEPPERMAN:  NO OBJECTION, YOUR HONOR.

         25             THE COURT:  GOVERNMENT'S 2199 IS ADMITTED.
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          1                                   (WHEREUPON, PLAINTIFFS'

          2                                   EXHIBIT NUMBER 2199 WAS

          3                                   RECEIVED IN EVIDENCE.)

          4   BY MR. MALONE:

          5   Q.  FIRST OF ALL, JUST SO WE'RE CLEAR, WHY DID YOU PREPARE

          6   THIS AND, AT LEAST AS IT APPEARS, SEND IT TO YOURSELF?

          7   A.  OFTEN WHEN BRIEFING EXECUTIVES, YOU DON'T WANT TO MISS

          8   ANY POINTS THAT NEED TO BE MADE SO THAT THEY ARE CLEAR ON

          9   WHERE THINGS STAND.  AND I JUST WANTED TO MAKE ABSOLUTELY

         10   CERTAIN THAT I DIDN'T MISS THE POINTS THAT THEY NEEDED TO

         11   UNDERSTAND.

         12   Q.  DOWN TOWARD THE BOTTOM, YOU HAVE A HEADING, "ISSUES,"

         13   AND THEN A NUMBER OF POINTS UNDER THERE.  WHAT WAS THAT

         14   GENERAL CATEGORY OF THINGS?  WHAT WAS THAT SUPPOSED TO

         15   REPRESENT?

         16   A.  THESE REPRESENTED A PORTION OF THE TEN OPEN ITEMS THAT I

         17   MENTIONED EARLIER.

         18   Q.  AND AT THE TOP OF THE FIRST PAGE, YOU HAVE A HEADING,

         19   "POINTS TO MAKE," AND THEN A NUMBER OF BULLET POINTS.

         20             DO YOU SEE THAT?

         21   A.  YES, I DO.

         22   Q.  WHAT ARE THOSE BULLET POINTS GENERALLY?

         23   A.  THESE WERE THE POINTS THAT I WANTED TO GET ACROSS TO THE

         24   EXECUTIVES TO HELP THEM UNDERSTAND OUR POSITION IN THE

         25   NEGOTIATIONS.
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          1   Q.  AND DID THESE -- HOW, IF AT ALL, DID THESE SPECIFICALLY

          2   RELATE TO THE CHANGE IN THE COURSE OF NEGOTIATIONS THAT YOU

          3   DESCRIBED A FEW MOMENTS AGO?

          4   A.  WELL, AS YOU CAN SEE FROM THE FIRST BULLET AND THE

          5   REMAINING THERE, THAT "THERE HAS BEEN VERY LITTLE PROGRESS

          6   OVER THE LAST TWO WEEKS.  THE IBM TEAM HAS PUSHED THE

          7   MICROSOFT TEAM HARD TO CLOSE THE REMAINING ISSUES," AND THE

          8   OTHER THINGS YOU SEE HERE.

          9             IT WAS REALLY JUST MEANT TO INCITE A SENSE OF

         10   URGENCY TO THE EXECUTIVES THAT WE WERE IN DANGER OF PERHAPS

         11   NOT HAVING A WINDOWS 95 LICENSE AGREEMENT.

         12   Q.  DID THESE POINTS, THE BULLET POINTS UNDER "POINTS TO

         13   MAKE," ACCURATELY REFLECT THE STATUS AND THE RECENT HISTORY

         14   OF YOUR NEGOTIATIONS WITH MICROSOFT?

         15   A.  YES.  AS I ANSWERED YOUR QUESTION EARLIER, THERE WAS NO

         16   SENSE OF URGENCY.  THE CANCELLATION OF MEETINGS -- WE WOULD

         17   HAVE MEETINGS SCHEDULED.  THEY WOULD CALL AND CANCEL THE

         18   MEETINGS.  NO RETURN FAXES.  MINIMAL INTERACTION BETWEEN THE

         19   TEAMS.

         20   Q.  WHAT WAS THE NEXT THING THAT HAPPENED AFTER YOU PREPARED

         21   THIS LIST OF THINGS THAT HAD BEEN HAPPENING OR NOT HAPPENING

         22   IN THE COURSE OF YOUR NEGOTIATIONS?

         23   A.  I BELIEVE IT WAS JULY 20TH I RECEIVED A CALL FROM MARK

         24   BABER OF MICROSOFT.  MARK INFORMED ME AT THAT TIME THAT HE

         25   HAD BEEN INSTRUCTED TO CUT OFF NEGOTIATIONS WITH IBM UNTIL
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          1   THE AUDIT HAD BEEN SETTLED BY EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT?

          2   Q.  MR. BABER WAS MICROSOFT'S IBM'S ACCOUNT MANAGER.

          3   A.  HE WAS MY COUNTERPART IN THE NEGOTIATIONS.

          4   Q.  I SEE.  AND DID HE TELL YOU WHO AT MICROSOFT HAD

          5   INSTRUCTED HIM TO CUT OFF FURTHER NEGOTIATIONS WITH IBM?

          6   A.  SENIOR EXECUTIVES.  GATES, BALLMER, AND KEMPIN.

          7   Q.  NOW, YOU MENTIONED A MOMENT AGO THAT HE TOLD YOU THAT HE

          8   WAS SUPPOSED TO CUT OFF FURTHER NEGOTIATIONS UNTIL THE AUDIT

          9   HAD BEEN RESOLVED.  CAN YOU TELL THE COURT GENERALLY WHAT

         10   AUDIT YOU'RE REFERRING TO?

         11   A.  THERE WAS AN AUDIT THAT WAS BEING CONDUCTED BY

         12   MICROSOFT -- IBM AND ERNST & YOUNG -- OF LAN MANAGER, OF

         13   OS/2 EVENTUALLY, WINDOWS 3.1, 3.0 AND MS-DOS.

         14             THE AUDIT THAT WAS BEING CONDUCTED AT THAT TIME I

         15   BELIEVE WAS LAN MANAGER.

         16   Q.  AND WHEN YOU SAY AN "AUDIT," WAS THIS AN AUDIT OF

         17   ROYALTIES THAT WERE OR MIGHT BE DUE FROM IBM TO MICROSOFT

         18   FOR THOSE PRODUCTS?

         19   A.  YES.  YES.

         20   Q.  BEFORE JULY 20TH OF 1995 AND THIS PHONE CALL FROM

         21   MR. BABER AT MICROSOFT, WERE YOU INVOLVED IN ANY WAY IN THIS

         22   AUDIT?

         23   A.  NOT AT ALL.

         24   Q.  WHY NOT?

         25   A.  IT WASN'T MY RESPONSIBILITY.  I HAD ONE RESPONSIBILITY
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          1   AT THIS POINT IN TIME, AND I HAD TO LEAVE THE NEGOTIATIONS

          2   TO COME UP WITH THE BEST PRICES AND TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR

          3   WINDOWS 95.  THAT WAS IT.

          4   Q.  WELL, PRIOR TO JULY 20TH AND THIS PHONE CALL, WAS THERE

          5   ANY CONNECTION, TO YOUR KNOWLEDGE, AT ALL BETWEEN THE

          6   WINDOWS 95 LICENSE NEGOTIATIONS AND THIS ONGOING AUDIT

          7   BETWEEN IBM AND MICROSOFT?

          8   A.  TO MY KNOWLEDGE, NEVER.

          9   Q.  AND WERE YOU SURPRISED AT ALL WHEN MR. BABER TOLD YOU

         10   THAT THE WINDOWS 95 NEGOTIATIONS WERE NOW BEING CUT OFF

         11   UNTIL THE AUDIT HAD BEEN RESOLVED?

         12   A.  QUITE SURPRISED, YES.

         13   Q.  WHY WERE YOU SO SURPRISED?

         14   A.  THE AUDIT WAS NEVER LINKED TO THE WINDOWS 95 LICENSE

         15   AGREEMENT IN THE PAST.  WE HAD NEVER DISCUSSED THE AUDIT

         16   BEING A PART OF THE WINDOWS 95 LICENSE AGREEMENT.  THEY HAD

         17   NEVER MENTIONED THAT THE AUDIT WAS RELATED TO THE WINDOWS 95

         18   LICENSE AGREEMENT.

         19   Q.  WHAT DID YOU DO AFTER LEARNING THAT MICROSOFT'S

         20   EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT HAD INSTRUCTED MR. BABER TO CUT OFF

         21   FURTHER WINDOWS 95 NEGOTIATIONS WITH IBM?

         22   A.  I ALERTED MY SENIOR EXECUTIVES RIGHT AWAY.

         23   Q.  AND WHAT, IF ANYTHING, DID IBM DO NEXT, BASED ON YOUR

         24   ALERTING YOUR MANAGERS?

         25   A.  RICK THOMAN, T-H-O-M-A-N, WHO WAS THEN THE SENIOR
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          1   VICE-PRESIDENT AND GROUP EXECUTIVE OF THE PERSONAL SYSTEMS

          2   GROUP, ONE OF THE EXECUTIVES THAT I BRIEFED, SENT A LETTER

          3   TO BILL GATES DETAILING THE NEGOTIATIONS AND WHERE HE WAS

          4   TOLD THE NEGOTIATIONS WERE AND HOW THEY WERE GOING.

          5             AND IT SAID, "TODAY, I LEARNED YOU HAVE LINKED THE

          6   AUDIT TO OUR ABILITY TO GET A LICENSE FOR WINDOWS 95."

          7   Q.  WHAT, IF ANY, INVOLVEMENT DID YOU HAVE IN THE LETTER

          8   THAT MR. THOMAN SENT TO MR. GATES ON JULY 20TH?

          9   A.  I HELPED WRITE IT.

         10   Q.  I WOULD LIKE TO ASK YOU TO TAKE A LOOK AT GOVERNMENT

         11   EXHIBIT 2197.

         12             HAVE YOU SEEN EXHIBIT 2197 BEFORE?

         13   A.  YES, I HAVE.

         14   Q.  AND WHAT IS IT?

         15   A.  THIS IS THE LETTER I JUST REFERRED TO FROM RICK THOMAN

         16   TO BILL GATES, DATED JULY 20TH, 1995.

         17             MR. MALONE:  YOUR HONOR, I'D OFFER 2197.

         18             MR. PEPPERMAN:  NO OBJECTION, YOUR HONOR.

         19             THE COURT:  GOVERNMENT'S 2197 IS ADMITTED.

         20                                   (WHEREUPON, PLAINTIFFS'

         21                                   EXHIBIT NUMBER 2197 WAS

         22                                   RECEIVED IN EVIDENCE.)

         23   BY MR. MALONE:

         24   Q.  MR. NORRIS, IF YOU WOULD PLEASE, LOOK AT THE SECOND

         25   PARAGRAPH OF THE LETTER, WHICH BEGINS -- MR. THOMAN
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          1   WRITING -- "BRUCE CLAFLIN" -- AND BEFORE WE GO ON, WHO IS

          2   MR. CLAFLIN OR WHO WAS HE AT THIS TIME?

          3   A.  BRUCE, AT THIS TIME, WAS MY BOSS' BOSS.  BRUCE WAS THE

          4   GENERAL MANAGER OF PRODUCT AND BRAND MANAGEMENT FOR THE P.C.

          5   COMPANY.

          6   Q.  WAS HE ONE OF THE PEOPLE THAT YOU HAD BRIEFED ABOUT WHAT

          7   HAD JUST HAPPENED IN THE WINDOWS 95 NEGOTIATIONS?

          8   A.  YES, DIRECTLY.

          9   Q.  MR. THOMAN WRITES, "BRUCE CLAFLIN HAS JUST INFORMED ME

         10   THAT OUR RELATIONSHIP MAY BE IN EVEN WORSE SHAPE THAN I

         11   THOUGHT.  OUR TEAMS HAVE BEEN NEGOTIATING THE LICENSE TO

         12   PRE-LOAD WINDOWS 95 FOR QUITE A WHILE.  IBM'S TEAM HAS BEEN

         13   VERY FRUSTRATED WITH THE PACE OF THESE DISCUSSIONS, AS WELL

         14   AS MICROSOFT'S RELUCTANCE TO ACCEPT PROPOSALS WHICH APPEAR

         15   TO BE IN OUR MUTUAL BEST INTERESTS."

         16             DO YOU SEE THAT?

         17   A.  YES, I DO.

         18   Q.  AND WAS THAT AN ACCURATE STATEMENT OF THE STATUS OF

         19   NEGOTIATING WITH MICROSOFT AS OF JULY 20TH?

         20   A.  YES, AS YOU SAW FROM MY NOTES TO MYSELF ON THE 19TH,

         21   THIS IS EXACTLY WHAT WE INFORMED THE SENIOR EXECUTIVES OF.

         22   Q.  IN THE NEXT PARAGRAPH, MR. THOMAN THEN WRITES, "TODAY,

         23   MICROSOFT INTRODUCED A NEW ISSUE, THE PACE OF AN EXISTING

         24   CONTRACT AUDIT, THE SETTLEMENT OF WHICH YOUR TEAM WANTS AS A

         25   CONDITION OF FINISHING THE CONTRACT AND SHIPPING PRODUCT.
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          1   THIS IS A COMPLETE REVERSAL OF MICROSOFT'S PRIOR POSITION."

          2             DO YOU SEE THAT?

          3   A.  YES, I DO.

          4   Q.  AND IS THAT CONSISTENT WITH YOUR UNDERSTANDING AT THE

          5   TIME THAT THE LINKING BETWEEN THE AUDIT AND ANY FURTHER

          6   WINDOWS 95 NEGOTIATIONS WAS A COMPLETE REVERSAL OF

          7   MICROSOFT'S PRIOR POSITION?

          8   A.  YES.

          9   Q.  NOW, MR. NORRIS, BEFORE WE GO FURTHER IN THE STORY OF

         10   MICROSOFT'S DECISION TO CUT OFF WINDOWS 95 NEGOTIATIONS WITH

         11   IBM, I WANT TO ASK YOU ABOUT ANOTHER SERIES OF EVENTS THAT

         12   WERE HAPPENING AT THE SAME TIME, HERE IN JUNE AND JULY OF

         13   1995.

         14             IN EARLY JUNE OF '95, AS THE WINDOWS 95

         15   NEGOTIATIONS WERE PROCEEDING, DID IBM MAKE ANY KIND OF

         16   ANNOUNCEMENT ABOUT A RELATIONSHIP OR DEALINGS WITH ANY

         17   COMPETITOR OF MICROSOFT'S?

         18   A.  WE CERTAINLY DID.  ON JUNE 5TH OF 1995, IBM ANNOUNCED

         19   THE HOSTILE TAKEOVER AND ACQUISITION OF LOTUS DEVELOPMENT

         20   CORPORATION.

         21   Q.  AND WHAT DID LOTUS DO AT THAT TIME?  WHAT WERE ITS

         22   PRODUCTS?

         23   A.  LOTUS WAS A DIRECT COMPETITOR OF MICROSOFT.  THEY WERE A

         24   SOFTWARE MANUFACTURER THAT OFFERED COMPETING PRODUCTS

         25   AGAINST MICROSOFT.
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          1   Q.  AND, SPECIFICALLY, WHAT PRODUCTS OR WHAT WERE THE

          2   PRIMARY PRODUCTS LOTUS OFFERED THAT COMPETED WITH MICROSOFT

          3   PRODUCTS?

          4   A.  THEY OFFERED AN E-MAIL PRODUCT, LIKE LOTUS NOTES, AN

          5   OFFICE SUITE OF PRODUCTS, LIKE LOTUS SMARTSUITE, AND OTHERS.

          6   Q.  WHAT HAPPENED AFTER THE JUNE 5TH ACQUISITION

          7   ANNOUNCEMENT?

          8   A.  ON JUNE 11TH, IBM AND LOTUS REACHED AGREEMENT FOR LOTUS

          9   TO BE ACQUIRED BY IBM.

         10   Q.  AND WHAT WAS THE NEXT THING THAT HAPPENED IN THE COURSE

         11   OF THIS PROPOSED ACQUISITION?

         12   A.  THAT ACQUISITION WAS COMPLETED AROUND THE 5TH OF JULY.

         13   Q.  NOW, BEFORE THE ACQUISITION WAS EVEN COMPLETED, AFTER IT

         14   WAS ANNOUNCED, DID ANYONE FROM MICROSOFT RAISE ANY CONCERNS

         15   TO PEOPLE AT IBM ABOUT IBM'S ACQUISITION OF LOTUS OR IBM AND

         16   LOTUS?

         17   A.  OH, YES.  MARK BABER, ON SEVERAL OCCASIONS AFTER THAT,

         18   ONCE THE JUNE 5TH ANNOUNCEMENT WAS MADE AND PRIOR TO THINGS

         19   BEGINNING TO SLOW DOWN, ASKED, WELL, WHAT ARE YOUR PLANS FOR

         20   LOTUS?  WHAT ARE IBM'S PLANS?  DO YOU PLAN ON PRE-LOADING

         21   SMARTSUITE?  ARE YOU GOING TO DROP SMARTSUITE IN THE BOXES

         22   OF YOUR P.C. SYSTEMS?  EXACTLY WHAT DO YOU PLAN ON DOING

         23   WITH SMARTSUITE?"

         24   Q.  AND WHO DID MR. BABER ASK THOSE QUESTIONS TO?

         25   A.  ME.
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          1   Q.  DID ANYONE ELSE FROM MICROSOFT, DURING THIS TIME OF LATE

          2   JUNE OR EARLY JULY, EXPRESS ANY CONCERNS ABOUT LOTUS TO

          3   ANYONE FROM IBM?

          4   A.  YES.  JOACHIM KEMPIN DID AS WELL.

          5   Q.  DO YOU KNOW WHEN MR. KEMPIN MADE HIS CONCERNS KNOWN AND

          6   TO WHOM AT IBM?

          7   A.  I BELIEVE IT WAS SOMEWHERE AROUND THE 28TH OF JUNE HE

          8   MADE IT TO TONY SANTELLI, WHO WAS THEN THE GENERAL MANAGER

          9   OF PRODUCT MANAGEMENT FOR THE RS 6000 LINE OF PRODUCTS.

         10   Q.  I WOULD LIKE YOU TO TAKE A LOOK, IF YOU WOULD, PLEASE,

         11   AT GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT 2153.

         12             FOR THE RECORD, THIS APPEARS TO BE A JUNE 28TH,

         13   1995 E-MAIL FROM -- CORRECT ME IF I AM WRONG -- MR. SANTELLI

         14   TO MR. THOMAN.

         15   A.  I'M SORRY.  I DIDN'T HEAR YOU.  I WAS READING.

         16   Q.  SORRY.  THIS APPEARS TO BE A JUNE 28TH, 1995 E-MAIL FROM

         17   MR. SANTELLI TO MR. THOMAN; IS THAT CORRECT?

         18   A.  YES.

         19   Q.  AND HAVE YOU SEEN THIS DOCUMENT BEFORE?

         20   A.  YES, I HAVE.

         21             MR. MALONE:  YOUR HONOR, WE WOULD OFFER 2153.

         22             MR. PEPPERMAN:  YOUR HONOR, MAY I INQUIRE THROUGH

         23   THE COURT.  THERE APPEARS TO BE THIRD PAGE ATTACHED TO THIS

         24   E-MAIL THAT DOES NOT APPEAR TO BE PART OF THE DOCUMENT.  IF

         25   I CAN SHOW MR. MALONE MY COPY.
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          1             (COUNSEL CONFERRING.)

          2             MR. MALONE:  YOUR HONOR, IT APPEARS THERE IS

          3   MISTAKENLY A THIRD PAGE ATTACHED TO THE E-MAIL.  THE EXHIBIT

          4   PROPERLY SHOULD CONSIST OF JUST PAGES THAT ARE BATES

          5   NUMBERED 92327 AND 92328.  IT'S ONLY THOSE TWO PAGES THAT

          6   WE'RE OFFERING IN EVIDENCE.

          7             MR. PEPPERMAN:  AND WITH THAT CLARIFICATION, YOUR

          8   HONOR, I HAVE NO OBJECTION.

          9             THE COURT:  ALL RIGHT.  GOVERNMENT'S 2153 IS

         10   ADMITTED.

         11                                   (WHEREUPON, PLAINTIFFS'

         12                                   EXHIBIT NUMBER 2153 WAS

         13                                   RECEIVED IN EVIDENCE.)

         14   BY MR. MALONE:

         15   Q.  MR. NORRIS, CAN YOU DESCRIBE GENERALLY WHAT EXHIBIT 2153

         16   IS?

         17   A.  YES.  IT IS AN E-MAIL FROM TONY SANTELLI TO RICK THOMAN,

         18   DATED JUNE 28TH, 1995, OF WHICH THE SUBJECT IS A DINNER

         19   MEETING WITH JOACHIM KEMPIN.

         20             THE COURT:  WHO IS SANTELLI AGAIN?

         21             THE WITNESS:  TONY SANTELLI AT THAT TIME WAS THE

         22   GENERAL MANAGER OF THE RS 6000 LINE OF PRODUCTS.

         23             THE COURT:  OKAY.

         24   BY MR. MALONE:

         25   Q.  AND WHERE WAS MR. SANTELLI IN THE IBM HIERARCHY ABOVE
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          1   YOU?

          2   A.  HE WOULD HAVE BEEN EQUIVALENT TO MY BOSS' BOSS, BRUCE

          3   CLAFLIN.

          4   Q.  RIGHT BELOW THE SUBJECT LINE THAT YOU JUST READ,

          5   MR. SANTELLI WRITES, "JOACHIM KEMPIN LEARNED FROM ROY

          6   CLAUSON" -- AND BEFORE WE GO ON, WHO IS ROY CLAUSON AT THIS

          7   TIME?

          8   A.  ROY WAS RESIDENT IN SEATTLE.  HE WAS IN KIRKLAND,

          9   WASHINGTON, WHERE IBM MAINTAINS A PROGRAMMING CENTER

         10   DEDICATED TO MICROSOFT PRODUCTS.

         11   Q.  HE WAS AN IBM EMPLOYEE WHO DEALT WITH MICROSOFT?

         12   A.  YES, HE WAS.

         13   Q.  AND DO YOU KNOW -- DID MR. CLAUSON ALSO ATTEND THIS

         14   DINNER MEETING WITH MR. SANTELLI AND MR. KEMPIN?

         15   A.  MY UNDERSTANDING IS THAT HE DID.

         16   Q.  MR. SANTELLI WRITES, "JOACHIM KEMPIN LEARNED FROM ROY

         17   CLAUSON THAT I WAS IN KIRKLAND YESTERDAY AND SUGGESTED THAT

         18   WE HAVE DINNER TOGETHER.  NO SUBJECT.

         19             "JOACHIM PREFACED HIS COMMENT WITH, `I WANTED TO

         20   MEET TO CLEAR THE AIR.  BILL GATES DOES NOT KNOW WE'RE

         21   HAVING THIS DISCUSSION.'

         22             "JOACHIM EXPRESSED CONCERN THAT OUR COMPANIES ARE

         23   HEADED ON A COLLISION COURSE."

         24             DO YOU SEE THAT?

         25   A.  YES, I DO.
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          1   Q.  AND THEN MOVING DOWN TO THE NUMBERED ITEM NUMBER 2,

          2   MR. SANTELLI WRITES -- IN THE COURSE OF "SPECIFICS

          3   RAISED" -- WRITES, "MICROSOFT NEEDS TO BETTER UNDERSTAND

          4   WHAT'S BEHIND THE LOTUS DEAL.  LVG SHOULD HAVE CALLED GATES

          5   TO EXPLAIN."

          6             DO YOU KNOW WHAT THE REFERENCE "LVG" THERE REFERS

          7   TO?

          8   A.  YES, I DO.

          9   Q.  AND WHAT IS THAT?

         10   A.  THAT'S LEWIS V. GERSTNER, JR., CHAIRMAN OF IBM.

         11   Q.  MR. SANTELLI CONTINUES, UNDER "SPECIFICS RAISED" BY

         12   MR. KEMPIN, "HE HEARD RUMORS IN SOUTH AMERICA (HE JUST

         13   RETURNED) THAT IBM WAS PLANNING TO PRELOAD LOTUS SMARTSUITE

         14   ON ALL IBM P.C.'S AND SELL IT TO OEM'S FOR $5 A COPY."

         15             DO YOU SEE THAT?

         16   A.  YES, I DO.

         17   Q.  IS MR. SANTELLI'S REPORT OF HIS DISCUSSION WITH

         18   MR. KEMPIN HERE CONSISTENT WITH YOUR UNDERSTANDING AT THE

         19   TIME OF WHAT HAPPENED DURING THEIR MEETING?

         20   A.  YES, IT IS.

         21   Q.  NOW, ARE YOU AWARE WHETHER A SUMMARY OF THIS DINNER

         22   MEETING WAS ALSO PREPARED BY MR. CLAUSON?

         23   A.  I AM AWARE OF THAT, YES.

         24   Q.  I WOULD LIKE YOU TO LOOK, IF YOU WOULD, PLEASE, AT

         25   GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT 2204.
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          1             HAVE YOU SEEN EXHIBIT 2204 BEFORE, SIR?

          2   A.  YES, I HAVE.

          3   Q.  AND WHAT IS IT?

          4   A.  IT IS AN E-MAIL FROM ROY CLAUSON TO TONY SANTELLI DATED

          5   JUNE 28TH, SUBJECT, "REMEMBRANCES OF OUR MEETING LAST

          6   NIGHT."

          7             MR. MALONE:  YOUR HONOR, I WOULD OFFER 2204.

          8             MR. PEPPERMAN:  NO OBJECTION, YOUR HONOR.

          9             THE COURT:  GOVERNMENT'S 2204 IS ADMITTED.

         10                                   (WHEREUPON, PLAINTIFFS'

         11                                   EXHIBIT NUMBER 2204 WAS

         12                                   RECEIVED IN EVIDENCE.)

         13   BY MR. MALONE:

         14   Q.  MR. NORRIS, IS IT YOUR UNDERSTANDING THAT THIS IS ROY

         15   CLAUSON'S REMEMBRANCES OF THE SAME MEETING WITH JOACHIM

         16   KEMPIN THAT MR. SANTELLI WAS JUST WRITING ABOUT IN THE

         17   PREVIOUS EXHIBIT?

         18   A.  YES, IT IS.

         19   Q.  HE BEGINS BY SAYING, "WHAT I HEARD."  AND THEN, NUMBER

         20   ONE, "MICROSOFT IS DEFINITELY WORRIED ABOUT SMARTSUITE BEING

         21   GIVEN AWAY AND EATING INTO THEIR `OFFICE HEARTLAND.'"

         22             DO YOU SEE THAT?

         23   A.  YES, I DO.

         24   Q.  AND WHAT, IF ANY, UNDERSTANDING DID YOU HAVE AT THE TIME

         25   OF WHAT WAS MEANT BY MICROSOFT BEING WORRIED ABOUT
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          1   SMARTSUITE "EATING INTO THEIR OFFICE HEARTLAND"?

          2   A.  MY UNDERSTANDING IS THAT MICROSOFT WAS VERY CONCERNED

          3   ABOUT THE POSSIBILITY THAT IBM P.C. COMPANY WOULD BE

          4   PRE-LOADING OR DROPPING SMARTSUITE IN THE BOXES.

          5             AND THEY WERE CONCERNED ABOUT THEIR REVENUE STREAM

          6   FOR MICROSOFT OFFICE, WHICH APPARENTLY IS A LARGE PRODUCER

          7   OF THE REVENUE FOR MICROSOFT.

          8   Q.  MR. CLAUSON THEN GOES ON TO WRITE, UNDER WHAT HE HEARD,

          9   NUMBER 2, "THERE ARE LOTS OF `COMBATIVE' PEOPLE IN MICROSOFT

         10   READY TO GO TO WAR WITH IBM."

         11             DO YOU SEE THAT?

         12   A.  YES, I DO.

         13   Q.  AND IS THAT CONSISTENT WITH WHAT YOU HEARD FROM

         14   MR. CLAUSON AND FROM MR. SANTELLI AFTER THEIR MEETING WITH

         15   JOACHIM KEMPIN?

         16   A.  YES, IT IS.

         17   Q.  NOW, AFTER THE ANNOUNCEMENT OF IBM'S ACQUISITION OF

         18   LOTUS, AND AFTER THESE EXPRESSIONS OF CONCERN ABOUT LOTUS

         19   AND SMARTSUITE BY MR. KEMPIN, DID IBM ANNOUNCE -- MAKE ANY

         20   ANNOUNCEMENT ABOUT WHAT IT PLANNED TO DO WITH LOTUS'

         21   PRODUCTS?

         22   A.  ONCE THE ACQUISITION WAS COMPLETED ON JULY 5TH, JULY

         23   17TH, IBM ANNOUNCED THAT LOTUS SMARTSUITE WOULD BE THE

         24   PRIMARY DESKTOP OFFERING FROM IBM IN THE UNITED STATES.

         25   Q.  AND WHEN YOU SAY THE "PRIMARY DESKTOP OFFERING FROM
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          1   IBM," DO YOU MEAN BY THE IBM P.C. COMPANY?

          2   A.  BY THE IBM P.C. COMPANY.

          3   Q.  NOW, THE ANNOUNCEMENT THAT THE IBM P.C. WAS GOING TO

          4   MAKE A COMPETING NONMICROSOFT APPLICATION ITS PRIMARY

          5   DESKTOP OFFERING CAME HOW LONG BEFORE MICROSOFT INFORMED YOU

          6   THAT SENIOR MANAGEMENT HAD INSTRUCTED IT TO CUT OFF ALL

          7   FURTHER WINDOWS 95 NEGOTIATIONS?

          8   A.  THREE DAYS BEFORE I RECEIVED THE CALL FROM MARK BABER.

          9   Q.  I WANT TO RETURN TO SOME SMARTSUITE-RELATED EVENTS IN A

         10   FEW MOMENTS, BUT BEFORE I DO THAT, LET'S REJOIN THE STORY OF

         11   THE WINDOWS 95 NEGOTIATIONS AT THE JULY 20TH POINT.

         12             WERE YOU AND OTHERS -- YOUR SUPERIORS AT IBM

         13   CONCERNED ABOUT MICROSOFT HALTING ALL WINDOWS 95

         14   NEGOTIATIONS AT THIS STAGE?

         15   A.  YES.  VERY MUCH SO.

         16   Q.  AND IS THAT FOR THE REASONS THAT YOU DESCRIBED EARLIER

         17   ABOUT IBM'S COMPETITIVE POSITION IF IT DID NOT HAVE

         18   WINDOWS 95?

         19   A.  YES.

         20   Q.  AFTER YOU WERE TOLD BY MARK BABER THAT NEGOTIATIONS WERE

         21   BEING STOPPED, WHAT, IF ANYTHING, DID YOU AND IBM DO NEXT?

         22   A.  I WAS ASKED BY RICK THOMAN TO PREPARE AN ANALYSIS OF

         23   WHAT WOULD HAPPEN TO THE IBM P.C. COMPANY IF WE WERE ABLE TO

         24   SHIP WINDOWS 95 ONE WEEK AFTER ANNOUNCED, ONE MONTH AFTER

         25   ANNOUNCED, THREE MONTHS, OR WE NEVER RESOLVED THE LICENSE

                                                                              44

          1   ISSUE.

          2             ALSO, WE ARRANGED TO HAVE A CONFERENCE CALL

          3   BETWEEN RICK THOMAN AND BILL GATES ON JULY 24TH.

          4   Q.  I WOULD LIKE TO COME BACK IN A FEW MINUTES TO THE

          5   ANALYSIS THAT YOU DID OF WHAT WOULD HAPPEN IF IBM GOT

          6   WINDOWS 95 LATE OR DIDN'T GET IT AT ALL.

          7             BEFORE I DO THAT, THOUGH, WHAT, IF ANY, ROLE DID

          8   YOU HAVE IN PREPARING FOR MR. THOMAN'S CALL WITH BILL GATES

          9   ON JULY 24TH?

         10   A.  I BRIEFED HIM ON THE CURRENT STATUS.  I GAVE HIM A

         11   HISTORY OF WHERE WE WERE, WHAT HAD OCCURRED FROM THE TIME WE

         12   STARTED TO WHERE WE WERE AT THAT POINT IN TIME, AND ALSO

         13   PARTICIPATED IN THE CONFERENCE CALL WITH BILL GATES.

         14   Q.  AND WHEN YOU SAY YOU PARTICIPATED IN THE CALL, WHAT DO

         15   YOU MEAN?

         16   A.  I SAT IN THE ROOM WITH RICK THOMAN WHEN THE CALL

         17   OCCURRED -- RICK HAD THE PHONE UP TO HIS EAR -- AFTER I

         18   BRIEFED HIM.

         19   Q.  IN ADDITION TO MR. THOMAN'S END OF THE CALL, COULD YOU

         20   HEAR ANY PART OF WHAT MR. GATES WAS SAYING?

         21   A.  YES, I COULD.

         22   Q.  AND HOW WAS THAT POSSIBLE?

         23   A.  HE WAS PRETTY LOUD.

         24   Q.  DID YOU HAVE AN UNDERSTANDING, EITHER FROM WHAT YOU

         25   HEARD MR. GATES LOUDLY SAYING, OR WHAT MR. THOMAN TOLD YOU
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          1   IMMEDIATELY AFTER, OF WHY MR. GATES WAS SO LOUD?

          2   A.  YES, I DO.

          3   Q.  AND WHAT'S THAT UNDERSTANDING?

          4   A.  HE WAS COMPLAINING ABOUT SMARTSUITE, COMPETING WITH

          5   SMARTSUITE, COMPLAINING ABOUT THE AUDIT, AND COMPLAINING

          6   ABOUT OS/2.  THOSE ARE THREE GENERAL ITEMS.

          7   Q.  WHAT, IF ANY, UNDERSTANDING DID YOU HAVE ABOUT WHETHER

          8   MR. GATES SAID WHOSE DECISION IT WAS TO CUT OFF WINDOWS 95

          9   NEGOTIATIONS AND LINK THEM TO COMPLETION OF THIS AUDIT YOU

         10   DESCRIBED?

         11   A.  SENIOR MANAGEMENT.  GATES AND BALLMER.

         12   Q.  NOW, FOLLOWING THIS CALL, WHAT, IF ANYTHING, DID IBM DO

         13   TO TRY TO RESOLVE THE AUDIT ISSUE AND REMOVE IT AS AN

         14   OBSTACLE TO GETTING YOUR WINDOWS 95 LICENSE?

         15   A.  THE TWO THAT COME CLEAREST TO MIND ARE THE FOLLOWING:

         16   WE SENT LETTERS TO MICROSOFT SAYING THAT THERE WAS NO REASON

         17   TO LINK THE AUDIT TO THE WINDOWS 95 LICENSE AGREEMENT, AND

         18   WE ASKED TO HAVE IT DELINKED.  WE OFFERED $10 MILLION TO

         19   MICROSOFT IN ORDER TO HAVE THEM DELINK THE AUDIT, SUCH THAT

         20   THAT $10 MILLION COULD BE USED TO CLEAR UP ANY DISCREPANCIES

         21   THAT MIGHT BE FOUND.

         22             THE COURT:  TELL ME AGAIN WHAT WAS BEING AUDITED.

         23             THE WITNESS:  THE AUDIT CONCERNED IBM'S SHIPMENTS

         24   OF THE LOCAL AREA NETWORK MANAGER SOFTWARE.  AND I FORGET

         25   THE EXACT TIMEFRAMES.  I THINK IT WAS IN '93 AND '94 THAT IT
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          1   WAS BEING AUDITED.

          2             THE COURT:  AND WHO WAS DOING THE AUDIT?

          3             THE WITNESS:  ERNST & YOUNG WERE THE AUDITORS THAT

          4   WERE HIRED TO DO IT.

          5   BY MR. MALONE:

          6   Q.  AND WERE THERE OTHER PRODUCTS THAT WERE EITHER PART OF

          7   THE AUDIT AT THAT TIME OR WERE SCHEDULED TO BECOME PART OF

          8   THE AUDIT AS IT PROCEEDED?

          9   A.  MICROSOFT AND IBM HAD AGREED, AS I UNDERSTAND IT, TO

         10   HAVE THE AUDITS DONE CONSECUTIVELY.  AND THE FIRST ONE WOULD

         11   BE LAN MANAGER.  AND THE OS/2 AUDIT WOULD BEGIN ON AUGUST

         12   9TH, AND THEN THE OTHERS AFTERWARDS, VERSUS CONCURRENTLY ALL

         13   AT THE SAME TIME.

         14   Q.  AND GIVEN THAT SCHEDULE -- THAT AGREED-UPON SCHEDULE, AS

         15   YOU UNDERSTOOD IT -- WOULD IT HAVE BEEN POSSIBLE FOR ALL OF

         16   THOSE AUDIT ACTIVITIES TO BE RESOLVED BY AUGUST 24TH WHEN

         17   WINDOWS 95 WAS BEING RELEASED?

         18   A.  NOT POSSIBLE.  THE AUDITS TOOK SIX TO EIGHT WEEKS AT A

         19   TIME.  AND WITH THREE MORE TO GO AND ONLY A MONTH-AND-A-HALF

         20   LEFT, THERE WAS NO WAY THAT COULD HAVE BEEN DONE.

         21   Q.  YOU MENTIONED THAT ONE OF THE THINGS IBM DID WAS TO

         22   OFFER TO PREPAY, IF YOU WILL, $10 MILLION AGAINST ANY

         23   AMOUNTS THAT WERE FOUND TO BE OWED.

         24             DID IBM OFFER OR AGREE TO DO ANYTHING ELSE TO

         25   RESOLVE THE AUDIT SITUATION?
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          1   A.  YES, WE DID.  WE OFFERED TO PUT TERMS AND CONDITIONS IN

          2   THE LICENSE AGREEMENT, WHICH WOULD AMOUNT TO PENALTIES AND

          3   INTEREST MEASURES, SHOULD THEY FIND ANY DISCREPANCIES WITH

          4   THE SHIPMENTS VERSUS WHAT WE REPORTED.

          5   Q.  AND THIS WOULD APPLY TO FUTURE SHIPMENTS OF WINDOWS 95

          6   UNDER THAT LICENSE?

          7   A.  YES.

          8   Q.  NOW, YOU MENTIONED A SERIES OF LETTERS BACK AND FORTH.

          9   I'D LIKE YOU TO TAKE A LOOK, IF YOU WOULD, PLEASE, AT

         10   GOVERNMENT 2196.

         11             HAVE YOU SEEN EXHIBIT 2196 BEFORE, SIR?

         12   A.  YES, I HAVE.

         13   Q.  AND WHAT IS IT?

         14   A.  IT'S A LETTER DATED AUGUST 3RD, 1995 FROM RICK THOMAN TO

         15   JOACHIM KEMPIN.

         16             MR. MALONE:  YOUR HONOR, I WOULD OFFER 2196 AT

         17   THIS TIME.

         18             MR. PEPPERMAN:  NO OBJECTION, YOUR HONOR.

         19             THE COURT:  GOVERNMENT'S 2196 IS ADMITTED.

         20                                   (WHEREUPON, PLAINTIFFS'

         21                                   EXHIBIT NUMBER 2196 WAS

         22                                   RECEIVED IN EVIDENCE.)

         23   BY MR. MALONE:

         24   Q.  MR. NORRIS, WHAT, IF ANY, ROLE DID YOU HAVE IN PREPARING

         25   AND DRAFTING THE LETTER THAT IS GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT 2196?

                                                                              48

          1   A.  I DRAFTED PORTIONS OF IT FOR RICK.

          2   Q.  NOW, LOOK, IF YOU WOULD, PLEASE, FIRST AT THE SECOND

          3   PAGE -- THE FIRST PARAGRAPH THERE AT THE TOP OF THE SECOND

          4   PAGE.

          5   A.  UH-HUH.

          6   Q.  MR. THOMAN WRITES, "I WOULD HOPE IBM'S INTENT IS CLEAR.

          7   THE P.C. COMPANY HAS ALREADY STATED PUBLICLY THAT IT WILL

          8   SHIP AND SUPPORT WINDOWS 95.  OUR PERSONAL SOFTWARE PRODUCTS

          9   PEOPLE, HOWEVER, WILL CONTINUE TO COMPETE WITH WINDOWS 95.

         10             "IBM HAS NUMEROUS PARTNERS WITH WHOM IT ALSO

         11   COMPETES, AS I ASSUME MICROSOFT DOES."

         12             FIRST OF ALL, WHEN HE REFERS HERE TO THE PERSONAL

         13   SOFTWARE PRODUCTS PEOPLE, CAN YOU EXPLAIN WHO THEY ARE AND

         14   HOW, IF AT ALL, THEY ARE DIFFERENT FROM THE IBM P.C. COMPANY

         15   PEOPLE?

         16   A.  THE PERSONAL SOFTWARE PRODUCTS DIVISION IS ANOTHER

         17   DIVISION OF IBM.  THEY ARE A DIVISION THAT'S SEPARATE FROM

         18   THE IBM P.C. COMPANY.

         19             THE PSP DIVISION HAS RESPONSIBILITY FOR

         20   DEVELOPING, MANUFACTURING, AND SELLING SOFTWARE.  AND THEY

         21   ARE A DIRECT COMPETITOR OF MICROSOFT.

         22   Q.  AND IS THAT THE DIVISION, FOR EXAMPLE, THAT HAD

         23   DEVELOPED AND OFFERED OS/2 FOR SALE?

         24   A.  YES, IT IS.

         25   Q.  CAN YOU EXPLAIN WHY MR. THOMAN WROTE IN HIS LETTER TO
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          1   MR. KEMPIN THAT THE PSP PEOPLE "WILL CONTINUE TO COMPETE

          2   WITH WINDOWS 95," AND THAT "IBM HAS NUMEROUS PARTNERS WITH

          3   WHOM IT ALSO COMPETES"?  WHY WAS THAT IN THERE?

          4   A.  BECAUSE WE HAD SUCH DIRECT EXPERIENCE WITH MICROSOFT ON

          5   THE FACT THAT WE COMPETED THAT WE WOULD HAVE DIFFICULTIES IN

          6   THE RELATIONSHIP AND IN GETTING FAVORABLE TERMS AND

          7   CONDITIONS.

          8             RICK WAS TRYING TO INSURE THAT JOACHIM UNDERSTOOD

          9   THAT THE P.C. COMPANY HAD ALREADY AGREED THAT IT WAS GOING

         10   TO LICENSE WINDOWS 95, AND THAT WE NEEDED WINDOWS 95, BUT

         11   THAT, ON THE OTHER HAND, THAT THE PERSONAL SOFTWARE PRODUCTS

         12   DIVISION WOULD CONTINUE TO COMPETE WITH MICROSOFT.

         13             HE DID IT, NUMBER ONE, BECAUSE I INFORMED HIM THAT

         14   MICROSOFT HAD TOLD ME DIRECTLY, "AS LONG AS YOU'RE COMPETING

         15   WITH MICROSOFT, YOU'RE GOING TO HAVE DIFFICULTIES IN THIS

         16   RELATIONSHIP."

         17             AND RICK HAD DIRECT EXPERIENCE WITH THAT FROM HIS

         18   1994 DEALINGS WITH MICROSOFT, WHEN WE TOLD THEM THAT WE

         19   WOULD NOT LEAD WITH MICROSOFT PRODUCTS.

         20             IN THE ENSUING MONTHS, AS I TOLD YOU FROM MY MARCH

         21   BRIEFING, WERE THE THINGS THAT OCCURRED.

         22   Q.  THOSE WERE THE EVENTS YOU DESCRIBED EARLIER RELATING

         23   AROUND THE FALL OF 1994 COMDEX MEETING AND DISCUSSIONS

         24   BETWEEN IBM AND MICROSOFT?

         25   A.  YES.
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          1   Q.  AND ON THE FIRST PAGE, THE BEGINNING OF THE LAST

          2   PARAGRAPH, MR. THOMAN WRITES THAT, "IBM IS VERY SERIOUS

          3   ABOUT PURSUING A WINDOWS 95 LICENSE AGREEMENT.  IBM HAS

          4   ALREADY ANNOUNCED THAT IT WILL SHIP WINDOWS 95 AND PUT PLANS

          5   IN PLACE TO DO SO.  THOSE PLANS ARE BEING IMPACTED BY THIS

          6   DELAY IN OBTAINING THE CODE."

          7             DO YOU SEE THAT?

          8   A.  YES, I DO.

          9   Q.  AND WHY DID MR. THOMAN FEEL IT WAS NECESSARY TO TELL

         10   MICROSOFT THAT IBM'S PLANS WERE BEING IMPACTED BY THE DELAY

         11   IN OBTAINING THE WINDOWS 95 CODE?

         12   A.  THE DEVELOPMENT PROCESS IN IBM IS ONE THAT STARTS FROM

         13   THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE HARDWARE, THE TESTS AND EVALUATION OF

         14   THE SOFTWARE, AND THEN THE INTEGRATION OF SUCH BEFORE THEY

         15   FINALLY GO OUT TO CONSUMERS AND COMMERCIAL CUSTOMERS.  THEY

         16   HAD CUT OFF ACCESS TO THE CODE.  WITHOUT THE CODE, WE

         17   COULDN'T CONTINUE DEVELOPMENT OF OUR PRODUCTS.

         18             WE HAD ALSO BEGUN TO DESIGN NEW THINGS INTO THE

         19   HARDWARE AND ALSO INTO THE SOFTWARE, BUT NEEDED TO CONTINUE

         20   TO GET ACCESS TO THE CODE IN ORDER TO COMPLETE THE

         21   ENGINEERING AND THE VERIFICATION TESTING.

         22   Q.  AND HAD YOU PERSONALLY PREVIOUSLY TOLD REPRESENTATIVES

         23   AT MICROSOFT THAT HAVING NEGOTIATIONS CUT OFF AND NOT HAVING

         24   ACCESS TO THE CODE WAS IN ANY WAY AFFECTING IBM'S ABILITY TO

         25   MOVE FORWARD WITH ITS PRODUCT PLANS?
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          1   A.  YES, I DID.

          2   Q.  WHO DID YOU TELL?

          3   A.  I TOLD THIS TO MARK BABER.

          4   Q.  NOW, YOU TALKED A FEW MOMENTS AGO ABOUT THE EVENTS

          5   AROUND IBM'S ACQUISITION OF LOTUS IN JULY AND THEN THE

          6   ANNOUNCEMENT, JUST THREE DAYS BEFORE MICROSOFT CUT OFF THE

          7   WINDOWS 95 NEGOTIATIONS, THAT IBM WOULD BE MAKING LOTUS

          8   SMARTSUITE THE P.C. COMPANY'S PRIMARY DESKTOP APPLICATION.

          9             LET ME MOVE FORWARD A LITTLE BIT NOW AND ASK YOU

         10   WHAT, IF ANYTHING, DID MICROSOFT REPRESENTATIVES TELL IBM

         11   DURING THIS TIME, THE LATE JULY AND AUGUST TIMEFRAME, ABOUT

         12   THE AUDIT BEING RESOLVED IN PART BY IBM DOING OR NOT DOING

         13   SOMETHING RELATED TO SMARTSUITE?

         14   A.  JOACHIM KEMPIN SAID TO TONY SANTELLI THAT, IF IBM WOULD

         15   AGREE TO NOT SHIP LOTUS SMARTSUITE FOR SIX MONTHS TO A YEAR,

         16   THAT THEY WOULD SETTLE THE AUDIT.

         17             HE ALSO SAID THAT IF THE IBM P.C. COMPANY WOULD

         18   TAKE OTHER RELATIONSHIP MEASURES, THAT MICROSOFT WOULD BE

         19   WILLING TO SETTLE THE AUDIT.

         20             THE COURT:  WHO SAID THIS?

         21             THE WITNESS:  JOACHIM KEMPIN.

         22             THE COURT:  KEMPIN.

         23             THE WITNESS:  TO TONY SANTELLI.

         24   BY MR. MALONE:

         25   Q.  LET ME ASK YOU TO TAKE A LOOK AT GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT
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          1   2195, PLEASE.

          2             AND WHILE YOU'RE DOING THAT, LET ME JUST ASK, DO

          3   YOU KNOW WHEN OR IN WHAT CONTEXT THIS STATEMENT BY

          4   MR. KEMPIN TO MR. SANTELLI WAS MADE?

          5   A.  YES, I DO.  WE ASKED TONY TO GET INVOLVED IN THE

          6   NEGOTIATIONS TO DELINK THE AUDIT FROM THE WINDOWS 95 LICENSE

          7   AGREEMENT SINCE TONY HAD SOME RELATIONSHIP FROM HIS RS 6000

          8   POSITION.

          9             TONY WAS TRAVELING IN JAPAN AND ALSO ON VACATION

         10   WHEN HE BECAME INVOLVED.  AND THE TIMEFRAME WAS

         11   APPROXIMATELY AROUND THE 9TH OF AUGUST.

         12   Q.  AND WHEN YOU SAY "THE TIMEFRAME," WAS THERE A MEETING?

         13   A TELEPHONE CONVERSATION?  WHAT HAPPENED?

         14   A.  OH, YES.  FIRST OF ALL, I BRIEFED TONY IN VARIOUS

         15   TELEPHONE CONVERSATIONS ABOUT WHAT THE ISSUES WERE WHILE HE

         16   WAS IN JAPAN AND WHILE HE WAS AT HOME ON VACATION.  AND THEN

         17   THE MEETING ITSELF OCCURRED IN REDMOND ON AUGUST 9TH.

         18   Q.  TAKE A LOOK, PLEASE, AT EXHIBIT 2195 AND TELL ME IF YOU

         19   RECOGNIZE IT.

         20   A.  YES, I DO.

         21   Q.  AND WHAT IS IT?

         22   A.  IT IS A LETTER FROM TONY SANTELLI TO RICK THOMAN.

         23   Q.  THE SUBJECT OF THE LETTER IS "MICROSOFT MEETING,

         24   AUGUST 9TH, 1995," CORRECT?

         25   A.  MICROSOFT MEETING, AUGUST 9TH, 1995, YES.
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          1             MR. MALONE:  YOUR HONOR, I WOULD OFFER EXHIBIT --

          2   GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT 2195.

          3             MR. PEPPERMAN:  NO OBJECTION, YOUR HONOR.

          4             THE COURT:  GOVERNMENT'S 2195 IS ADMITTED.

          5                                   (WHEREUPON, PLAINTIFFS'

          6                                   EXHIBIT NUMBER 2195 WAS

          7                                   RECEIVED IN EVIDENCE.)

          8   BY MR. MALONE:

          9   Q.  MR. NORRIS, IF YOU WOULD, PLEASE, LOOK AT THE FIRST

         10   PARAGRAPH RIGHT UNDER THE SUBJECT LINE.  THERE, MR. SANTELLI

         11   WRITES, "ON WEDNESDAY, AUGUST 9TH, I MET WITH JOACHIM KEMPIN

         12   AND MARK BABER OF MICROSOFT REGARDING THE STATUS OF THE P.C.

         13   COMPANY WINDOWS 95 CONTRACT.  THE SUMMARY OF THE MEETING IS

         14   AS FOLLOWS."

         15             DO YOU SEE THAT?

         16   A.  YES I DO.

         17   Q.  AND ON THE SECOND PAGE, ABOUT A THIRD OF THE WAY DOWN

         18   UNDER ITEM NUMBER 6, THERE IS A HEADING "AUDITS."  DO YOU

         19   SEE THAT?

         20   A.  YES, I DO.

         21   Q.  IN THE FIFTH PARAGRAPH OF THAT SECTION, MR. SANTELLI

         22   WRITES, "JOACHIM ALSO SUGGESTED THIS PAYMENT MAY BE REDUCED

         23   THROUGH AN OFFER OF GOOD FAITH FROM IBM, SOMETHING HE COULD

         24   SHOW GATES."

         25             NEXT PARAGRAPH.  "HE SUGGESTED IBM NOT BUNDLE
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          1   LOTUS SMARTSUITE ON OUR SYSTEMS FOR A MINIMUM OF SIX MONTHS

          2   TO ONE YEAR.  HE IS CONCERNED ON THE IMPACT TO MICROSOFT

          3   PROFIT FROM OFFICE IF THEY BEGIN OFFERING TO OEM'S AS A

          4   PRELOAD.

          5             "THEY VIEW THE `THREAT OF BUNDLING' AS A `CORE

          6   ISSUE' IN THE RELATIONSHIP.  I TOLD THEM THIS WAS NOT AN

          7   OPTION."

          8             DO YOU SEE THAT?

          9   A.  YES, I DO.

         10   Q.  IS THIS CONSISTENT WITH YOUR UNDERSTANDING AT THE TIME

         11   OF WHAT MR. KEMPIN SAID TO MR. SANTELLI IN THE COURSE OF THE

         12   AUGUST 9TH MEETING?

         13   A.  YES, IT IS.

         14   Q.  AND WHAT WAS YOUR UNDERSTANDING, IF ANY, ABOUT

         15   MR. KEMPIN'S STATEMENT THAT MICROSOFT WAS "CONCERNED ON THE

         16   IMPACT TO MICROSOFT PROFIT FROM OFFICE IF THEY BEGAN

         17   OFFERING TO OEM'S AS A PRELOAD"?

         18   A.  THEY WERE CONCERNED THAT IF WE STARTED TO BUNDLE

         19   SMARTSUITE IN THE IBM P.C. COMPANY SYSTEMS, THAT THEY MAY

         20   HAVE TO OFFER SMARTSUITE AS AN OEM PRODUCT, AND THAT THEY

         21   WOULD, IN TURN, HAVE TO REDUCE THE PRICE PERHAPS IN ORDER TO

         22   BE COMPETITIVE.  THEREFORE, IT WOULD REDUCE THE REVENUE

         23   STREAM FOR MICROSOFT.

         24   Q.  NOW, LET ME ASK YOU -- FOCUSING ON THIS STATEMENT AGAIN

         25   ABOUT THE IMPACT TO MICROSOFT OFFICE -- MICROSOFT PROFIT
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          1   FROM OFFICE IF THEY BEGAN OFFERING TO OEM'S AS A PRELOAD,

          2   AND MICROSOFT VIEWING THE THREAT OF BUNDLING AS A CORE

          3   ISSUE, LET ME ASK YOU TO LOOK BACK, IF YOU STILL HAVE IT IN

          4   FRONT OF YOU, TO GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT 2204.  THESE WERE THE

          5   JUNE 29TH, 1995 NOTES FROM MR. CLAUSON ABOUT A SEPARATE

          6   MEETING WITH MR. KEMPIN.

          7             DO YOU SEE THAT?

          8   A.  I SEE IT.

          9   Q.  AND THERE HE WROTE THAT MR. KEMPIN SAID "MICROSOFT IS

         10   DEFINITELY WORRIED ABOUT SMARTSUITE BEING GIVEN AWAY AND

         11   EATING INTO THEIR `OFFICE HEARTLAND.'"

         12             DO YOU SEE THAT?

         13   A.  YES, I DO.

         14   Q.  HOW, IF AT ALL, IS THE SECOND STATEMENT FROM THE

         15   AUGUST 9TH MEETING CONSISTENT WITH THE STATEMENT MR. KEMPIN

         16   MADE ON JUNE 28TH, '95?

         17   A.  IT IS VERY CONSISTENT.

         18   Q.  WHAT, IF ANY, UNDERSTANDING DID YOU HAVE OF MR. KEMPIN'S

         19   STATEMENT THAT THEY -- MICROSOFT -- VIEW THE THREAT OF

         20   BUNDLING AS A CORE ISSUE IN THE RELATIONSHIP?

         21   A.  IN OTHER WORDS, AS LONG AS WE WERE COMPETING WITH

         22   SMARTSUITE AT THIS POINT IN TIME, THAT IT WAS A CORE ISSUE

         23   IN HOW GOOD OR NOT SO GOOD THE RELATIONSHIP WOULD BE.

         24   Q.  AND WAS IT YOUR UNDERSTANDING, BASED ON THIS MEETING,

         25   THAT MR. KEMPIN WAS SUGGESTING THAT, IF IBM AGREED NOT TO
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          1   BUNDLE SMARTSUITE ON THE P.C. COMPANY'S SYSTEMS FOR A

          2   MINIMUM OF SIX MONTHS TO ONE YEAR, THAT THAT MIGHT REDUCE

          3   THE PAYMENTS NECESSARY TO RESOLVE THE AUDIT?

          4   A.  THAT WAS MY UNDERSTANDING.

          5             THE COURT:  I THINK WE'LL TAKE A TEN-MINUTE RECESS

          6   NOW, MR. MALONE.

          7             MR. MALONE:  THANK YOU, YOUR HONOR.

          8             THE WITNESS:  THANK YOU.  IT'S TIMELY.

          9             (RECESS WAS TAKEN.)

         10             (AFTER RECESS.)

         11             THE COURT:  ALL RIGHT.

         12   BY MR. MALONE:

         13   Q.  MR. NORRIS, IF YOU WOULD, CONTINUE TO LOOK AT

         14   GOVERNMENT'S EXHIBIT 2195 ON THE SECOND PAGE, THE PORTION

         15   THAT WE HAVE BEEN LOOKING AT, THE FIFTH OR SIXTH PARAGRAPH,

         16   WHERE MR. SANTELLI REPORTS MR. KEMPIN AS STATING "MICROSOFT

         17   USED THE THREAT OF BUNDLING AS A CORE ISSUE IN THE

         18   RELATIONSHIP.  I TOLD HIM THAT THIS WAS NOT AN OPTION."

         19             WHAT, IF ANY, UNDERSTANDING DID YOU HAVE ABOUT WHY

         20   MR. SANTELLI SAID THAT THIS WAS NOT AN OPTION FOR IBM?

         21   A.  THAT IT WAS THE P.C. COMPANY'S INTENT TO PRELOAD LOTUS

         22   SMARTSUITE.  THAT WE COULD NOT SIMPLY STATE THAT WE WOULD

         23   NOT COMPLETE WITH THAT OFFERING.

         24   Q.  I'M SORRY.  WHEN YOU SAY "SIMPLY STATING YOU WOULD NOT

         25   COMPETE," CAN YOU EXPLAIN WHAT YOU MEAN?
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          1   A.  MEANING THAT WE COULD NOT, ON BEHALF OF THE ENTIRE IBM

          2   CORPORATION, SAY THAT WE WOULD NOT COMPETE WITH MICROSOFT,

          3   USING SMARTSUITE.

          4   Q.  LOOK, IF YOU WOULD, AT THE FIRST PAGE OF THIS DOCUMENT,

          5   UNDER "RESOLVED ISSUES."  DO YOU SEE THAT?

          6   A.  YES, I DO.

          7   Q.  WAS IT YOUR UNDERSTANDING -- WHAT, IF ANY, UNDERSTANDING

          8   DID YOU HAVE, AS OF THE AUGUST 9TH MEETING, ABOUT WHETHER

          9   OTHER ISSUES, BESIDES THIS AUDIT ISSUE THAT MR. KEMPIN WAS

         10   LINKING TO POSSIBLY IBM NOT BUNDLING SMARTSUITE -- WHAT

         11   OTHER ISSUES, IF ANY, WERE STILL ACTIVE OR WHAT WAS THE

         12   STATUS OF OTHER ISSUES IN THE WINDOWS 95 NEGOTIATION?

         13   A.  VERY FEW, IF ANY, WERE REMAINING.

         14   Q.  NOW, WHAT, IF ANY, FOLLOW-UP WAS THERE TO WHAT

         15   MR. KEMPIN SAID IN THIS AUGUST 9TH MEETING AS REPORTED BY

         16   MR. SANTELLI HERE IN EXHIBIT 2195?

         17   A.  I AM SORRY.  REPEAT THE QUESTION, PLEASE.

         18   Q.  SURE.  WAS THERE ANY FOLLOW-UP FROM MICROSOFT OR FROM

         19   MR. KEMPIN TO THE STATEMENTS THAT HE MADE IN THIS AUGUST 9TH

         20   MEETING?

         21   A.  YES.  WE DID RECEIVE SOME FURTHER CORRESPONDENCE FROM

         22   MICROSOFT AFTER THE AUGUST 9TH MEETING.

         23   Q.  I'D LIKE YOU TO TAKE A LOOK, IF YOU WOULD PLEASE, AT

         24   GOVERNMENT'S EXHIBIT 2138.

         25             I APOLOGIZE FOR THE DIFFICULTY IN READING IT.
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          1   A.  NO PROBLEM.

          2   Q.  UNFORTUNATELY, THIS IS THE BEST COPY THAT WE RECEIVED.

          3   DO YOU RECOGNIZE, EVEN ITS DIFFICULT-TO-READ CONDITION,

          4   EXHIBIT 2138?

          5   A.  YES, I DO.

          6   Q.  AND WHAT IS IT?

          7   A.  IT'S A LETTER FROM JOACHIM KEMPIN TO TONY SANTELLI,

          8   DATED APRIL 15, 1995.

          9   Q.  YOU SAID APRIL 15TH.  DO YOU MEAN AUGUST?

         10   A.  EXCUSE ME.  I'M SORRY.  I AM THINKING OF TAXES, I THINK.

         11   Q.  I AM SORRY TO HEAR THAT.

         12             AND IS IT YOUR UNDERSTANDING THAT THIS LETTER WAS

         13   A FOLLOW-UP TO THE AUGUST 9TH MEETING MR. KEMPIN HAD?

         14   A.  YES.

         15             MR. MALONE:  YOUR HONOR, I WOULD OFFER EXHIBIT

         16   2138 AT THIS TIME.

         17             MR. PEPPERMAN:  NO OBJECTION, YOUR HONOR.

         18             THE COURT:  GOVERNMENT'S 2138 IS ADMITTED.

         19                                   (WHEREUPON, PLAINTIFF'S

         20                                   EXHIBIT NUMBER 2138 WAS

         21                                   RECEIVED IN EVIDENCE.)

         22   BY MR. MALONE:

         23   Q.  FIRST, IF YOU WOULD LOOK AT THE FIRST PAGE, THE SECOND

         24   PARAGRAPH, NEAR THE TOP OF THE PAGE, MR. KEMPIN WRITES, YOU

         25   BASICALLY EMPHASIZED THAT IBM WOULD LIKE TO COMPLETE THE
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          1   WINDOWS 95 LICENSE BY WEDNESDAY IN ORDER TO PROTECT, IN

          2   PARTICULAR, YOUR CONSUMER BUSINESS AFTER LABOR DAY.  AS MUCH

          3   AS I WOULD LIKE TO DO THE SAME, LET ME LIST THE OBSTACLES

          4   AND PROPOSE A HOPEFULLY MUTUALLY AGREEABLE SOLUTION."

          5             DID I READ THAT CORRECTLY?

          6   A.  YES.

          7   Q.  WAS IT YOUR UNDERSTANDING THAT ONE OF THE THINGS

          8   MR. SANTELLI EXPLAINED TO MR. KEMPIN WAS THAT IBM WANTED TO

          9   GET THE WINDOWS 95 LICENSE ISSUE RESOLVED AND GET THEIR

         10   LICENSE AS QUICKLY AS POSSIBLE?

         11   A.  YES.

         12   Q.  AND THE REFERENCE HERE TO COMPLETING THE WINDOWS 95

         13   LICENSE IN ORDER TO PROTECT, IN PARTICULAR, THE CONSUMER

         14   BUSINESS AFTER LABOR DAY -- CAN YOU EXPLAIN WHAT THAT MEANT?

         15   A.  YES, I CAN.

         16             AS I EXPLAINED TO YOU EARLIER, WE WERE GREATLY

         17   CONCERNED ABOUT MISSING THE FALL BACK-TO-SCHOOL MARKET.  THE

         18   FALL BACK-TO-SCHOOL MARKET WOULD HAVE STARTED NOW, BECAUSE

         19   WE WERE IN THE AUGUST TIMEFRAME, AND CONTINUE INTO

         20   SEPTEMBER, BUT NOW THE CONCERN WAS HEIGHTENED BECAUSE NOW

         21   WE'RE GETTING INTO THE CHRISTMAS SEASON AND PROBABLY, IF NOT

         22   AS IMPORTANT, MAYBE EVEN MORE IMPORTANT, THE FACT THAT MANY

         23   LARGE CUSTOMERS PURCHASE MANY OF THEIR SYSTEMS TOWARD THE

         24   END OF THE YEAR IN THE FOURTH QUARTER, WHICH HAPPENS TO BE

         25   THE LARGEST QUARTER FOR OUR DIVISION IN THE COMPANY.  AND
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          1   THEY EXHAUST WHATEVER FUNDS THEY HAVE REMAINING IN THE

          2   FOURTH QUARTER.  SO WE WERE VERY CONCERNED ABOUT MISSING THE

          3   OPPORTUNITY FOR THAT.

          4   Q.  PLEASE LOOK AT THE SECOND PAGE OF MR. KEMPIN'S LETTER,

          5   THE LAST FULL OR LARGE PARAGRAPH DOWN TOWARD THE BOTTOM THAT

          6   BEGINS "LAST BUT NOT LEAST."  DO YOU SEE THAT?

          7   A.  "LAST BUT NOT LEAST," THE LAST PARAGRAPH?

          8   Q.  YES.

          9   A.  YES.

         10   Q.  THERE MR. KEMPIN WRITES, "LAST BUT NOT LEAST, LET ME

         11   COME BACK TO ONE OF MY KEY POINTS IN OUR DISCUSSIONS.  IF

         12   YOU BELIEVE THAT THE AMOUNT I AM ASKING FOR IS TOO MUCH" --

         13   AND IS IT YOUR UNDERSTANDING FROM THE CONTEXT THERE THAT

         14   THAT IS THE AMOUNT TO SETTLE THE AUDIT?

         15   A.  YES.

         16   Q.  "IF YOU BELIEVE THAT THE AMOUNT I AM ASKING FOR IS TOO

         17   MUCH, I WOULD BE WILLING TO TRADE CERTAIN

         18   RELATIONSHIP-IMPROVING MEASURES FOR THE SETTLEMENT CHARGES

         19   AND/OR CONVERT SOME OF THE AMOUNTS INTO MARKETING FUNDS IF

         20   IBM, TOO, AGREES TO PROMOTE MICROSOFT'S SOFTWARE PRODUCTS,

         21   TOGETHER WITH THEIR HARDWARE OFFERINGS."

         22             DO YOU SEE THAT?

         23   A.  YES, I DO.

         24   Q.  AND WHAT, IF ANY, UNDERSTANDING DID YOU HAVE AT THE TIME

         25   ABOUT THE MEANING, AS MR. KEMPIN WROTE IT, OF MICROSOFT
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          1   BEING WILLING TO TRADE CERTAIN RELATIONSHIP-IMPROVING

          2   MEASURES FOR PAYMENTS TO SETTLE THE AUDIT?

          3   A.  TRYING TO GAIN IBM'S AGREEMENT OR COMMITMENT TO NOT

          4   COMPETE, PARTICULARLY WITH SMARTSUITE, FROM THE MEETING ON

          5   THE 9TH, FOR THE SIX MONTHS TO ONE YEAR.

          6   Q.  WHAT, IF ANYTHING, DID IBM DO NEXT, AFTER THESE

          7   DISCUSSIONS AND AFTER RECEIVING MR. KEMPIN'S AUGUST 15TH,

          8   1995 LETTER?

          9   A.  WE SENT FURTHER CORRESPONDENCE TO MICROSOFT -- I THINK

         10   IT WAS ABOUT THE 21ST OF AUGUST -- INFORMING MICROSOFT THAT

         11   THERE WERE NO REMAINING ISSUES WITH THE WINDOWS 95 LICENSE

         12   AGREEMENT, AND THERE WAS NO REASON TO WITHHOLD THE CODE, AND

         13   THE AUDIT SHOULD BE DELINKED FROM THE LICENSE.

         14   Q.  LET ME ASK YOU TO LOOK, PLEASE, AT GOVERNMENT'S EXHIBIT

         15   2139.

         16             DO YOU RECOGNIZE EXHIBIT 2139, SIR?

         17   A.  YES, I DO.

         18   Q.  AND WHAT IS IT?

         19   A.  IT IS A LETTER DATED AUGUST 21, 1995, FROM TONY SANTELLI

         20   TO JOACHIM KEMPIN.

         21   Q.  IS THIS THE LETTER YOU WERE REFERRING TO JUST A MOMENT

         22   AGO?

         23   A.  YES, IT IS.

         24             MR. MALONE:  YOUR HONOR, I WOULD OFFER 2139.

         25             MR. PEPPERMAN:  NO OBJECTION, YOUR HONOR.
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          1             THE COURT:  GOVERNMENT'S 2139 IS ADMITTED.

          2                                   (WHEREUPON, PLAINTIFF'S

          3                                   EXHIBIT NUMBER 2139 WAS

          4                                   RECEIVED IN EVIDENCE.)

          5   BY MR. MALONE:

          6   Q.  LOOK, IF YOU WOULD, PLEASE, AT THE SECOND PARAGRAPH OF

          7   MR. SANTELLI'S LETTER TO MR. KEMPIN, WHERE HE WRITES, "AS I

          8   INDICATED DURING OUR DISCUSSION ON FRIDAY, EACH DAY THAT IBM

          9   HAS TO WAIT FOR THE WINDOWS 95 CODE, IBM IS AT A COMPETITIVE

         10   DISADVANTAGE."

         11             YOU HAVE TALKED ABOUT THIS A FAIR AMOUNT ALREADY,

         12   BUT WAS THAT YOUR UNDERSTANDING?  WAS THIS A TRUE STATEMENT

         13   AT THE TIME OF THE IMPACT OF THE DELAY IN GETTING WINDOWS 95

         14   CODE?

         15   A.  YES.  YES, WE DID ANALYSIS, AND, YES, IT WAS.

         16   Q.  MR. SANTELLI CONTINUES.  "SINCE WE HAVE REVOLVED ALL OF

         17   THE ISSUES ASSOCIATED WITH THE WINDOWS 95 LICENSE, I DO NOT

         18   UNDERSTAND YOUR REASONS FOR CONTINUING TO LINK DELIVERY TO

         19   WINDOWS 95 CODE TO RESOLUTION OF THE AUDIT."

         20             IS THAT CONSISTENT WITH YOUR UNDERSTANDING OF WHAT

         21   MR. SANTELLI AND OTHERS AT IBM WERE TELLING MICROSOFT?

         22   A.  YES.

         23   Q.  AND IS THAT AN ACCURATE STATEMENT ABOUT THE STATUS OF

         24   THE OTHER NON-AUDIT ISSUES RELATED TO THE WINDOWS 95

         25   LICENSE?

                                                                              63

          1   A.  YES.

          2   Q.  AND THEN IN THE FIRST SENTENCE OF THE FINAL PARAGRAPH,

          3   MR. SANTELLI WRITES, "IN LIGHT OF THE PROGRESS WE'VE MADE, I

          4   THINK WE SHOULD UNLINK THE AUDIT SETTLEMENT FROM THE WINDOWS

          5   95 CODE DELIVERY."

          6             DO YOU SEE THAT?

          7   A.  YES.

          8   Q.  AND HOW, IF AT ALL, IS THAT CONSISTENT WITH WHAT YOU AND

          9   YOUR SUPERIORS AT IBM HAD BEEN TELLING MICROSOFT DURING THIS

         10   PERIOD, MID-TO-LATE AUGUST?

         11   A.  AS EVIDENCED BY THE CONFERENCE CALLS AND ALSO BY THE

         12   LETTERS THAT WENT FROM RICK THOMAN TO BILL GATES AND THEN TO

         13   KEMPIN, IT'S VERY CONSISTENT.

         14   Q.  MR. NORRIS, DID IBM ULTIMATELY GET A LICENSE TO WINDOWS

         15   95?

         16   A.  YES, WE DID.

         17   Q.  AND WHEN DID YOU SIGN THE AGREEMENT AND RECEIVE THAT

         18   LICENSE?

         19   A.  WE SIGNED IT AT THE LAUNCH EVENT ON AUGUST 24, 1995,

         20   ABOUT 15 MINUTES BEFORE THE LAUNCH OCCURRED.

         21   Q.  WOULD YOU'VE LIKED TO HAVE SIGNED IT AND RECEIVED THE

         22   LICENSE AND THE CODE SOONER?

         23   A.  ABSOLUTELY.

         24   Q.  WHAT, IF ANYTHING, HAPPENED TO THE AUDIT THAT WAS

         25   ONGOING AND THAT MICROSOFT HAD SAID WAS THE REASON THAT THEY
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          1   WERE STOPPING FURTHER NEGOTIATIONS ON THE WINDOWS 95 LICENSE

          2   BACK ON JULY 20TH?

          3   A.  ON THAT SAME DAY, WE SIGNED A SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND

          4   THAT WAS THE END OF THE AUDIT.

          5   Q.  CAN YOU DESCRIBE FOR THE COURT HOW, IF AT ALL, THE DELAY

          6   UNTIL 15 MINUTES BEFORE THE LAUNCH OF WINDOWS 95 ADVERSELY

          7   AFFECTED IBM -- THE BUSINESS OF THE IBM P.C. COMPANY?

          8   A.  YES, I CAN.

          9             WINDOWS 95 HAD BEEN DELAYED A COUPLE OF TIMES

         10   ALREADY FROM THE ORIGINAL PLANNED DATE.  THERE WAS A LOT OF

         11   PENT-UP DEMAND FOR WINDOWS 95.  AS A RESULT OF THAT PENT-UP

         12   DEMAND, CONSUMERS WERE PARTICULARLY EXPECTED TO GO RIGHT TO

         13   WINDOWS 95 AND GET IT AS SOON AS THEY CAN.

         14             AS A RESULT, WE WOULD MISS THE INITIAL SPURT IN

         15   SALES.  SO WE MISSED THAT.  THE BACK-TO-SCHOOL MARKET -- WE

         16   MISSED THAT.  WE WERE LATE TO MARKET CERTAINLY WITH THE

         17   CHRISTMAS MARKET AS WELL.

         18             THE UPGRADE PROGRAM THAT WOULD BE OFFERED IN THE

         19   CHANNEL -- WE WERE LATE OR DELAYED AS TO THAT AS WELL.  WE

         20   WERE IMPACTED MEASURABLY IN OUR BUSINESS.

         21   Q.  I WOULD LIKE TO STEP BACK A MOMENT NOW TO SOMETHING YOU

         22   MENTIONED EARLIER IN YOUR TESTIMONY.  I BELIEVE YOU SAID

         23   THAT FOLLOWING RIGHT AROUND THE TIME OF MICROSOFT'S DECISION

         24   TO PUT THE WINDOWS 95 NEGOTIATIONS ON HOLD AND LINK IT TO

         25   THE AUDIT, THAT YOU CONDUCTED SOME ANALYSES OF WHAT IT WOULD
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          1   MEAN TO IBM IF YOU WERE EITHER LATE GETTING WINDOWS 95 OR IF

          2   YOU DIDN'T GET WINDOWS 95 AT ALL.  DO YOU RECALL THAT?

          3   A.  YES, I DO.

          4   Q.  AND CAN YOU DESCRIBE JUST GENERALLY FOR THE COURT WHAT

          5   YOU DID TO ASSESS OR TO ANALYZE THE IMPACT -- IN PARTICULAR,

          6   THE IMPACT IF YOU WEREN'T ABLE TO GET THE WINDOWS 95 LICENSE

          7   AT ALL?

          8   A.  SURE.  THE ANALYSES THAT WE CONDUCTED LOOKED AT WHETHER

          9   WE GOT A LICENSE ONE WEEK AFTER ANNOUNCE, ONE MONTH AFTER

         10   ANNOUNCE, THREE MONTHS AFTER ANNOUNCE, OR THAT WE NEVER

         11   RECEIVED THE LICENSE FOR WINDOWS 95.

         12             WE LOOKED AT ALTERNATIVE MEANS IN WHICH TO OBTAIN

         13   THE CODE, INCLUDING BUYING IT AT RETAIL, THE SHRINK-WRAP

         14   VERSION AND PAYING DISTRIBUTORS, INTEGRATORS OR RESELLERS TO

         15   INSTALL THE SOFTWARE FOR US.

         16             THE ANALYSIS CONCLUDED THAT WE WOULD LOSE

         17   VOLUME -- ANYWHERE FROM 30 TO 90 PERCENT -- DEPENDING ON THE

         18   BRAND.  IT ALSO INCLUDED THE FACT THAT WE WOULD INCUR TENS

         19   OF MILLIONS OF DOLLARS OF COSTS BECAUSE OF THE INCREASED

         20   COST TO BUY THE RETAIL PACKAGE AND THE COST TO PAY SOMEONE

         21   TO INSTALL IT, SINCE WE DIDN'T HAVE THE RIGHT.

         22             AND THEN, THIRD, IT WOULD AMOUNT TO HUNDREDS OF

         23   MILLIONS OF DOLLARS OF IMPACT TO OUR GROSS PROFIT AND THE

         24   MATTER OF LOST SALES AND THE INCREASED COSTS.

         25   Q.  BEFORE WE GO ON, LET ME JUST ASK YOU.  YOU SAID THAT YOU
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          1   ANALYZED WHAT WOULD HAPPEN IF YOU HAD TO GET WINDOWS 95

          2   THROUGH SOME OTHER MEANS, AT RETAIL OR SOME OTHER WAY.

          3             DID YOU ANALYZE WHAT WOULD HAPPEN IF YOU SIMPLY

          4   USED SOME OTHER OPERATING SYSTEM, OTHER THAN WINDOWS 95, AND

          5   LOADED THAT ONTO THE P.C. COMPANY'S COMPUTERS?

          6   A.  YES, WE DID.

          7   Q.  AND WHAT DID THAT ANALYSIS TELL YOU?

          8   A.  IT TOLD US THAT WE HE WOULD LOSE ANYWHERE FROM 70 TO 90

          9   PERCENT IN TERMS OF VOLUME.  IF WE TRIED TO INSTALL ONLY

         10   OS/2 ON THE SYSTEMS, THAT THERE WAS ENOUGH DEMAND FOR

         11   WINDOWS 95 THAT CUSTOMERS WOULD NOT BUY THE OS/2 SYSTEMS.

         12   THEREFORE, THEY WOULD NOT BUY OUR HARDWARE OR THE SOFTWARE

         13   THAT WAS INSTALLED.  SO THE VOLUME IMPACT COULD BE ANYWHERE

         14   FROM 70 TO 90 PERCENT.

         15   Q.  IN THE COURSE OF YOUR ANALYSIS, DID YOU CONCLUDE WHETHER

         16   OR NOT THERE WAS ANY COMMERCIALLY VIABLE ALTERNATIVE TO THE

         17   IBM P.C. COMPANY FOR WINDOWS 95?

         18   A.  THERE WAS NO PLACE TO GO.  WITHOUT WINDOWS 95, YOU

         19   COULDN'T BE IN THE P.C. BUSINESS.  THERE WAS NO COMMERCIALLY

         20   VIABLE ALTERNATIVE, NO.

         21   Q.  IN THE COURSE OF YOUR NEGOTIATIONS WITH MICROSOFT, DID

         22   ANYBODY FROM MICROSOFT EVER, IN SUBSTANCE, SAY THAT TO YOU,

         23   "THERE IS NOWHERE ELSE TO GO"?

         24   A.  YES.  THEY DID.

         25   Q.  WHO TOLD YOU THAT?
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          1   A.  MARK BABER DID.

          2   Q.  AND CAN YOU DESCRIBE FOR THE COURT WHEN OR HOW MR. BABER

          3   SAID THAT?

          4   A.  SOMEWHERE DURING THE COURSE OF THE NEGOTIATIONS IN THE

          5   SPRING OR SUMMER OF '95, BABER SAID TO ME, "WHERE ELSE ARE

          6   YOU GOING TO GO?  THIS IS THE ONLY GAME IN TOWN."

          7   Q.  NOW, YOU DESCRIBED SOME VOLUME IMPACTS AND SOME CHANGES

          8   TO COST THAT WOULD RESULT IF IBM WASN'T ABLE TO GET

          9   WINDOWS 95 FROM MICROSOFT.  AND I THINK YOU MENTIONED 30 TO

         10   90 PERCENT.

         11             OVER WHAT TIME PERIOD -- HOW LONG OF A TIME PERIOD

         12   WAS THAT INITIAL EFFECT THAT YOU WERE LOOKING AT?

         13   A.  WE WERE LOOKING AT A THREE-MONTH ANALYSIS.

         14   Q.  AND DID THE ANALYSIS CHANGE IF YOU LOOKED AT WHAT WOULD

         15   HAPPEN OVER THE COURSE OF THE NEXT YEAR, LET'S SAY, IF YOU

         16   WEREN'T ABLE TO GET WINDOWS 95?

         17   A.  YES, FROM THREE TO TWELVE MONTHS, GOING INTO 1996, IT

         18   SIMPLY MEANT THE IBM P.C. COMPANY WOULD BE OUT OF BUSINESS.

         19   Q.  MR. NORRIS, LET ME TURN NOW TO THE PERIOD AFTER THE

         20   WINDOWS 95 LICENSE AGREEMENT WAS FINALLY SIGNED IN AUGUST --

         21   ON AUGUST 24TH, AND ASK YOU WHETHER YOU WERE INVOLVED THEN

         22   IN ANY EFFORTS AT IBM TO TRY TO IMPROVE ITS RELATIONSHIP

         23   WITH MICROSOFT?

         24   A.  REPEAT THE QUESTION, PLEASE.

         25   Q.  SURE.
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          1             ONCE YOU WERE FINALLY ABLE TO SIGN THE WINDOWS 95

          2   LICENSE, DID YOU THEN BECOME INVOLVED IN ANY EFFORTS AT IBM

          3   TO TRY TO IMPROVE IBM OR THE IBM P.C.'S COMPANY'S

          4   RELATIONSHIP WITH MICROSOFT?

          5   A.  CERTAINLY.  AFTER WE CAME BACK FROM THE LAUNCH EVENT --

          6   WE BEING MYSELF, BRUCE CLAFLIN, AND JOSE GARCIA -- RETURNED

          7   BACK TO RALEIGH AND NEW YORK TWO WEEKS LATER -- I BEGAN TO

          8   LOOK AT A REVIEW OF THE RELATIONSHIP, AND WE DECIDED THAT WE

          9   WANTED TO TAKE MEASURES TO IMPROVE THE RELATIONSHIP IN ORDER

         10   TO MAKE THE P.C. COMPANY AND MICROSOFT WORK A LITTLE BETTER

         11   TOGETHER.

         12             SO, YES, I WOULD SAY I STARTED THAT SOMEWHERE

         13   AROUND THE SEPTEMBER TIMEFRAME.

         14   Q.  AND WHY DID YOU AND WHY DID IBM UNDERTAKE THIS EFFORT TO

         15   SEE IF YOU COULDN'T HAVE A BETTER RELATIONSHIP WITH

         16   MICROSOFT?

         17   A.  IT WAS CRYSTAL CLEAR THAT THERE WAS NO COMMERCIALLY

         18   VIABLE ALTERNATIVE.  WE HAD TO HAVE A RELATIONSHIP WITH

         19   MICROSOFT.  WE HAD TO HAVE A RELATIONSHIP BECAUSE WE NEEDED

         20   THEM TO BE IN THE P.C. BUSINESS.

         21             SO WE WANTED TO LOOK AT RELATIONSHIP-IMPROVING

         22   MEASURES THAT WE COULD TAKE THAT WOULD ENDEAR MICROSOFT MORE

         23   TO IBM.

         24   Q.  AND CAN YOU DESCRIBE GENERALLY WHAT THINGS HAPPENED

         25   AFTER YOU BEGAN THE PROCESS?  WHAT WERE THE STEPS IN TRYING
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          1   TO SEE IF YOU COULD HAVE A BETTER RELATIONSHIP WITH

          2   MICROSOFT?

          3   A.  SURE.

          4             MARK AND I WORKED ON SEVERAL RELATIONSHIP

          5   IMPROVEMENT MEASURES OR STEPS THAT WE COULD TAKE IN ORDER TO

          6   WORK OUT A WAY THAT THE IBM P.C. COMPANY AND MICROSOFT COULD

          7   WORK, BOTH AS PARTNERS, BUT ALSO AS COMPETITORS.

          8             WE ARRANGED FOR A FALL COMDEX 1995 MEETING THAT

          9   WOULD OCCUR BETWEEN JOACHIM KEMPIN AND TONY SANTELLI, WHO

         10   WAS NOW THE NEW GENERAL MANAGER -- I BELIEVE BRUCE CLAFLIN

         11   HAD NOW LEFT IBM -- AND ALSO ROBERT STEVENSON, WHO REPLACED

         12   RICK THOMAN.

         13   Q.  OKAY.  AND I'M SORRY.  WHO WERE YOU TRYING TO ARRANGE

         14   FOR MR. STEVENSON AND MR. SANTELLI TO MEET WITH AT THE FALL

         15   COMDEX SHOW?

         16   A.  JOACHIM KEMPIN.

         17   Q.  AND JUST SO WE'RE CLEAR, THE ANNUAL FALL COMDEX SHOW IS

         18   A HUGE INDUSTRY GET-TOGETHER IN LAS VAGAS EVERY YEAR IN

         19   NOVEMBER?

         20   A.  IN LAS VEGAS, YES.

         21   Q.  OKAY.  CAN YOU DESCRIBE YOUR INVOLVEMENT, BOTH IN

         22   PREPARING FOR AND IN -- BOTH PREPARING FOR AND IN EITHER

         23   CARRYING OUT OR FOLLOWING UP ON THE MEETING THAT HAPPENED AT

         24   THE COMDEX SHOW WITH MR. KEMPIN?

         25   A.  I WAS RESPONSIBLE FOR MAKING THE ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE

                                                                              70

          1   IBM SIDE.  MARK WAS WORKING ON THE MICROSOFT SIDE.  WE HAD

          2   THE MEETING SET.  WE HAD ARRANGED FOR FOLLOW-UP MEETINGS

          3   AFTERWARDS AS WORKING SESSIONS TO WORK OUT THE DETAILS TO

          4   WHAT OUR SUPERIORS AGREED UPON.

          5             WE WENT BACK AND FORTH ON WHAT WE THOUGHT WE

          6   WANTED TO HAVE THE EXECUTIVES DISCUSS, AND ALSO HAVE THEM

          7   REACH SOME SORT OF GENERAL AGREEMENT SO THAT WE COULD HAVE A

          8   WORKING DOCUMENT AS A RESULT.

          9   Q.  YOU SAID YOU ARRANGED FOLLOW-UP MEETINGS.  WITH WHOM

         10   WERE THOSE MEETINGS GOING TO BE?

         11   A.  MARK AND I LED MEETINGS AFTERWARDS -- AFTER KEMPIN AND

         12   SANTELLI AND STEVENSON MET -- TO WORK OUT A DOCUMENT -- WORK

         13   OUT THE MEASURES THAT WE WANTED TO TAKE.  THEY INCLUDED NOW

         14   WOLFGANG STRUSS, WHO WAS A NEW MEMBER OF THE TEAM, HARRY

         15   NICOL, DEAN DUBINSKY AND ROY CLAUSON, AND, OF COURSE,

         16   MYSELF.

         17   Q.  AND MR. STRUSS WAS A NEW MEMBER OF THE MICROSOFT TEAM

         18   THAT WAS DEALING WITH IBM?

         19   A.  YES.

         20   Q.  DID THE MEETING ACTUALLY TAKE PLACE IN LAS VEGAS?

         21   A.  YES, IT DID.

         22   Q.  AND DO YOU RECALL WHERE IT WAS?

         23   A.  IT WAS IN THE ONE OF THE HOTELS.  I DON'T REMEMBER WHICH

         24   ONE.

         25   Q.  AND FOLLOWING THE MEETING, DID YOU RECEIVE BRIEFINGS AND
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          1   OTHER INFORMATION SO THAT YOU COULD THEN GO AND DO ALL OF

          2   THE FOLLOW-UP THAT YOU HAD PLANNED FOR?

          3   A.  YES.  WE RECEIVED DEBRIEFINGS FROM OUR EXECUTIVES --

          4   HARRY NICOL AND I, AS I RECALL -- AND THEN WE TOOK THAT INTO

          5   THE NEXT MEETINGS WITH BABER.

          6   Q.  LET ME SHOW YOU A DOCUMENT THAT HAS BEEN MARKED AS

          7   GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT 2140, AND ASK YOU TO TAKE A LOOK AT THAT,

          8   PLEASE.

          9             DO YOU RECOGNIZE EXHIBIT 2140, MR. NORRIS?

         10   A.  YES, I DO.

         11   Q.  OKAY.  WHAT IS IT?

         12   A.  IT'S A LETTER THAT I WROTE FOR TONY SANTELLI'S

         13   SIGNATURE, DATED NOVEMBER 28TH, 1995.

         14   Q.  AND IT'S TO MR. KEMPIN?

         15   A.  YES.

         16   Q.  AND IT HAS AN ATTACHED LIST OF 12 POINTS.  WERE YOU ALSO

         17   INVOLVED IN CREATING THOSE?

         18   A.  I WROTE THE 12 POINTS, YES.

         19             MR. MALONE:  YOUR HONOR, I WOULD OFFER 2140.

         20             MR. PEPPERMAN:  NO OBJECTION, YOUR HONOR.

         21             THE COURT:  GOVERNMENT'S 2140 IS ADMITTED.

         22                                   (WHEREUPON, PLAINTIFFS'

         23                                   EXHIBIT NUMBER 2140 WAS

         24                                   RECEIVED IN EVIDENCE.)

         25   BY MR. MALONE:
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          1   Q.  MR. SANTELLI BEGINS WRITING TO MR. KEMPIN, "I HOPE YOU

          2   SHARE MY VIEW THAT WE HAD A FRANK EXCHANGE AT COMDEX AS TO

          3   WHERE IBM AND MICROSOFT CAN BETTER WORK TOGETHER."

          4             DO YOU SEE THAT?

          5   A.  YES.

          6   Q.  AND THEN HE LISTS A NUMBER OF POINTS.

          7             IS IT YOUR UNDERSTANDING THAT THOSE POINTS WERE

          8   THE MAIN ITEMS THAT WERE DISCUSSED IN THE MEETING BETWEEN

          9   MR. SANTELLI AND MR. STEVENSON AND MR. KEMPIN?

         10   A.  YES.

         11   Q.  AND CAN YOU EXPLAIN WHAT THE 12 MORE-DETAILED POINTS ON

         12   THE NEXT PAGE ARE?  HOW DID THOSE RELATE TO THE POINTS IN

         13   THE LETTER ITSELF?

         14   A.  THE SIX POINTS ON THE FIRST PAGE ARE THE GENERAL AREAS

         15   OR STATEMENTS AND MEASURES THAT WE WOULD TAKE TO WORK

         16   TOGETHER.

         17             THE 12 ON THE FOLLOWING PAGES ARE THE CRITICAL

         18   AREAS THAT WE THOUGHT WE NEEDED TO WORK ON TOGETHER IN ORDER

         19   FOR US TO BE SUCCESSFUL.

         20   Q.  IF YOU WOULD, FOR NOW, LOOK AT THE FIRST PAGE OF THE

         21   LETTER AGAIN, TO ITEM LETTERED "F" --

         22   A.  UH-HUH.

         23   Q.  -- WHICH READS, "FOR THE TIME BEING, THE IBM P.C.

         24   COMPANY WILL NOT BE A MICROSOFT FRONTLINE PARTNER."

         25             DO YOU SEE THAT?
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          1   A.  YES, I DO.

          2   Q.  WHAT WAS YOUR UNDERSTANDING, AT THE TIME OF THE MEETING

          3   AND AT THE TIME YOU HELPED WRITE THIS LETTER, OF WHAT

          4   MICROSOFT MEANT WHEN THEY TALKED ABOUT THE IBM P.C. COMPANY

          5   BEING A FRONTLINE PARTNER?

          6   A.  THAT WE WOULD NOT COMPETE WITH COMPETING PRODUCTS.  WE

          7   WERE SIMPLY TELLING THEM HERE THAT WE COULD NOT BE A

          8   MICROSOFT FRONTLINE PARTNER BECAUSE WE WOULD CONTINUE TO

          9   COMPETE WITH COMPETING PRODUCTS.

         10   Q.  AND WHAT WAS YOUR BASIS FOR UNDERSTANDING THAT THE TERM

         11   "FRONTLINE PARTNER WITH MICROSOFT" MEANT THAT YOU WOULD NOT

         12   COMPETE WITH THEM WITH PRODUCTS THAT COMPETED WITH THEIRS?

         13   A.  IT DATED BACK TO WHAT I WAS TOLD WHEN I CAME INTO THE

         14   JOB IN MARCH OF 1995, ABOUT WHAT HAD OCCURRED IN 1994, WITH

         15   THE FRONTLINE PARTNERSHIP THAT HAD BEEN PROPOSED THEN.  THAT

         16   IN ORDER TO PARTICIPATE, THAT WE WOULD HAVE TO REDUCE,

         17   ELIMINATE OR DROP SHIPMENTS.

         18             WE WOULD HAVE TO LEAD WITH MICROSOFT PRODUCTS.  WE

         19   WOULD HAVE TO PROMOTE MICROSOFT PRODUCTS.

         20             IT WAS NOT ANY DIFFERENT HERE IN THE REFERENCE

         21   THAT WE WERE REFERRING TO, IN THAT WE COULD NOT LEAD WITH

         22   MICROSOFT PRODUCTS.  WE COULDN'T REDUCE OR ELIMINATE OUR

         23   PRODUCTS, AND WE COULDN'T PROMOTE THEIR PRODUCTS.

         24   Q.  AND WHEN YOU SAY YOU COULDN'T REDUCE OR ELIMINATE

         25   COMPETING PRODUCTS, DO YOU MEAN THAT YOU COULD NOT DO
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          1   THAT -- LET ME JUST ASK.  WHAT DO YOU MEAN WHEN YOU SAY YOU

          2   COULD NOT DO THAT?  WHY NOT?

          3   A.  WE OFFERED COMPETING PRODUCTS ACROSS THE IBM

          4   CORPORATION.  THE P.C. COMPANY WAS A SINGLE DIVISION.

          5   CERTAINLY WHERE WE THOUGHT IT MADE MARKET SENSE FOR US TO

          6   COMPETE OR TO SHIP PRODUCTS THAT CUSTOMERS WANTED, WHETHER

          7   IT WAS SMARTSUITE, OR OS/2, OR OTHER APPLICATION, THEN WE

          8   WOULD CONTINUE TO DO THAT.

          9   Q.  WHAT, IF ANY, UNDERSTANDING DID YOU HAVE, FROM THE

         10   MEETING WITH MR. KEMPIN AND THE FOLLOW-UP TO THAT, ABOUT

         11   WHAT IT WOULD MEAN TO IBM IF, IN FACT, YOU DID AGREE TO

         12   BECOME A FRONTLINE PARTNER AND TO REDUCE OR ELIMINATE

         13   SHIPMENTS OF COMPETING PRODUCTS?

         14   A.  AS BABER HAD REFERRED TO EARLIER IN 1995, THAT IBM COULD

         15   HAVE COMPAQ'S PRICE WHEN IT QUITS COMPETING.  WE UNDERSTOOD

         16   IT TO MEAN THAT IT WOULD MEAN REDUCED ROYALTIES.  IT WOULD

         17   MEAN BETTER THAN PAR SUPPORT FOR OUR MARKETING PROGRAMS, FOR

         18   TECHNICAL PROGRAMS, AND PERHAPS ENGAGEMENT AND INVITATION TO

         19   THEIR ENABLING PROGRAMS, LIKE THEIR MICROSOFT CERTIFIED

         20   SOLUTION PROVIDER PROGRAM.

         21   Q.  I WANT TO COME BACK IN A LITTLE BIT AND ASK YOU A SERIES

         22   OF QUESTIONS ABOUT THESE ENABLING PROGRAMS.  BUT LET'S LEAVE

         23   THOSE ASIDE FOR NOW.

         24             WHEN YOU SAY THAT ONE OF THE THINGS BEING A

         25   FRONTLINE PARTNER WOULD MEAN WAS "BETTER THAN PAR SUPPORT,"
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          1   WHAT DO YOU MEAN?  RELATIVE TO WHOM?

          2   A.  ON MANY OCCASIONS, WE WANTED MICROSOFT TO MAKE PRESS

          3   STATEMENTS WITH US, GIVE US QUOTES FOR OUR PRESS RELEASES,

          4   JOIN US AT MARKETING EVENTS, JOIN US IN JOINT SALES CALLS,

          5   GIVE US BETTER ACCESS TO THEIR TECHNICAL COMMUNITY AND

          6   BETTER ACCESS TO THE PLANS THAT THEY HAD FOR THE NEXT THREE

          7   MONTHS, SIX MONTHS OR 12 MONTHS.

          8             WE DIDN'T ENJOY THOSE BENEFITS, AS OUR COMPETITORS

          9   DID, BECAUSE WE COMPETED, AND THEY TOLD US THAT.  SO WE

         10   WANTED TO UNDERSTAND WHAT ELSE WE COULD DO IN ORDER TO HAVE

         11   ACCESS TO THOSE OFFERINGS, BUT BE ON PAR WITH OUR

         12   COMPETITORS.

         13   Q.  WITH THAT IN MIND, LET ME ASK YOU TO LOOK AT THE SECOND

         14   PAGE OF 2140.  THIS IS YOUR LIST OF 12 SPECIFIC POINTS.  DO

         15   YOU SEE THAT?

         16   A.  YES, I DO.

         17   Q.  AND IN NUMBER 11 YOU WRITE, AND MR. SANTELLI SENDS TO

         18   MR. KEMPIN, "YOU PLACE US AS A TIER 3 OEM WITHIN MICROSOFT.

         19   IN LINE WITH IBM'S NEW FOCUS, HOW DO WE BECOME TIER 1?"

         20             WHAT DID YOU MEAN BY THAT?

         21   A.  MARK ALWAYS TOLD US US THAT WE WEREN'T ONE OF THE TOP

         22   REVENUE PRODUCERS FOR MICROSOFT, AND THAT BECAUSE WE

         23   COMPETED, THAT WE WOULD NOT ENJOY THE BENEFITS THAT THE

         24   TIER 1 P.C. MANUFACTURERS ENJOYED.

         25             BEING A TIER 3 P.C. MANUFACTURER MEANT THAT WE
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          1   WOULD BE TREATED LIKE ANY OTHER OEM.  AND THAT COULD BE A

          2   WHITE BOX MANUFACTURER, "WHITE BOX" BEING DEFINED AS

          3   OFF-THE-SHELF COMPONENT MANUFACTURERS WHO SIMPLY ADD NO

          4   VALUE AND SHIP PRODUCTS TO THE MARKET.

          5             THAT WE WOULD GET STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS.

          6   THAT WE WOULD NOT ENJOY ANY BENEFITS OF THESE ENABLING

          7   PROGRAMS.  AND WE CERTAINLY WOULDN'T ENJOY ANY BENEFITS OF

          8   MARKETING STATEMENTS OR JOINT MARKETING APPEARANCES.

          9   Q.  AND WHEN YOU REFER TO "WHITE BOX MANUFACTURERS," WHAT

         10   KIND OF VOLUMES OF P.C. SHIPMENTS WOULD YOU TYPICALLY SEE

         11   FROM A WHITE BOX MANUFACTURER?

         12   A.  IT COULD BE ANY -- FROM ANYONE THAT'S WORKING OUT OF A

         13   GARAGE TO SOMEONE THAT'S SHIPPING 500, 1,000, OR 500,000.

         14   Q.  HOW DID IBM P.C. COMPANY'S VOLUME OF SHIPMENTS OF P.C.'S

         15   WITH WINDOWS COMPARE TO THAT DURING THE TIMEFRAME THAT WE'RE

         16   TALKING ABOUT HERE?

         17   A.  AT THIS TIME, WE WERE SHIPPING A TOTAL OF ANYWHERE

         18   BETWEEN 5 AND 6 MILLION SYSTEMS.  SO CERTAINLY 4 MILLION OR

         19   5 MILLION.  BETWEEN 4 AND 5.

         20   Q.  YOU MENTIONED A MOMENT AGO THAT MICROSOFT MENTIONED

         21   SOMETHING ABOUT REVENUES.  DURING THE 1995 TIMEFRAME, DO YOU

         22   RECALL APPROXIMATELY HOW MUCH IN ROYALTIES THE IBM P.C.

         23   COMPANY PAID TO MICROSOFT?

         24   A.  YES, I DO.

         25   Q.  AND HOW MUCH WAS THAT?
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          1   A.  APPROXIMATELY 40 MILLION U.S.

          2   Q.  AND HOW DID THAT CHANGE OVER THE NEXT SEVERAL YEARS?

          3   A.  IN 1996, WE PAID 220 MILLION U.S. DOLLARS.  IN 1997, WE

          4   PAID APPROXIMATELY 330 MILLION.  AND IN 1998, WE PAID

          5   APPROXIMATELY 440 MILLION.

          6   Q.  NOW, YOU DESCRIBED A MOMENT AGO THE IDEA OF ACCESS OR

          7   PARTICIPATION AND SUPPORT IN MARKETING PROGRAMS AND EVENTS

          8   WITH MICROSOFT.  I WANT TO COME BACK TO THAT, BUT CAN YOU

          9   JUST DESCRIBE BRIEFLY RIGHT NOW WHETHER OR NOT, AND IF SO,

         10   HOW WERE THOSE KINDS OF THINGS IMPORTANT TO IBM IN BEING

         11   ABLE TO COMPETE IN THE P.C. BUSINESS AND SELL ITS P.C.'S TO

         12   USERS?

         13   A.  MICROSOFT USES THREE OR FOUR ENABLING PROGRAMS, AS WE

         14   REFER TO THEM, THAT ALLOW A COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE TO THE

         15   P.C. MANUFACTURERS THAT THEY PARTNER WITH THE CLOSEST.

         16             COMPANIES LIKE COMPAQ -- BACK THEN DEC, HP, AND

         17   SOME OTHERS THAT I CAN'T RECALL AT THE MOMENT -- HAD CERTAIN

         18   DESIGNATIONS AND LOGOS THAT ALLOWED THEM TO DO JOINT

         19   DEVELOPMENT WORK, JOINT MARKETING WORK, JOINT SALES CALLS

         20   AND ENJOYING BETTER ACCESS TO THE DEVELOPMENT TEAMS AND

         21   BETTER ACCESS TO EARLY PRODUCT CODE THAN THOSE THAT DIDN'T

         22   HAVE THOSE DESIGNATIONS.

         23             FOR EXAMPLE, TO BE A MICROSOFT AUTHORIZED SUPPORT

         24   CENTER MEANT THAT YOU WERE BLESSED BY MICROSOFT AND WERE

         25   QUALIFIED TO DO THE WORK THAT COULD INTEGRATE MICROSOFT
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          1   PRODUCTS.

          2             THE MICROSOFT CERTIFIED SOLUTION PROVIDER PROGRAM

          3   MEANT THE SAME THING, ALONG WITH SOME ADDITIONAL BENEFITS.

          4             ANOTHER PROGRAM CALLED THE "AUTHORIZED TECHNICAL

          5   EDUCATION CENTER PROGRAM" ALLOWED P.C. MANUFACTURERS AND

          6   OTHERS TO DO THEIR OWN TRAINING AND CERTIFICATIONS OF

          7   MICROSOFT CERTIFIED PROFESSIONALS.

          8             THE MARKET RECOGNITION OF THAT DESIGNATION CARRIED

          9   MARKET POWER WITH IT.  IBM DIDN'T CARRY THAT DESIGNATION,

         10   DESPITE THE FACT THAT WE ATTEMPTED TO GET IN THE PROGRAMS.

         11   AND WE WENT ON THE INTERNET TO FIND OUT WHAT THE

         12   QUALIFICATIONS WERE AND ASKED MICROSOFT WHAT THE

         13   QUALIFICATIONS WERE.  WE WERE NEVER ABLE TO GAIN ADMISSION

         14   TO THE PROGRAMS.

         15   Q.  THOSE PROGRAMS ARE SOMETHING I WANT TO COME BACK TO AND

         16   SPEND A FAIR AMOUNT OF TIME ON A LITTLE BIT LATER ON.

         17             BEFORE WE DO THAT, THOUGH, LET ME JUST FINISH UP

         18   ASKING YOU ABOUT GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT 2140 -- I'M SORRY.  GO

         19   AHEAD.

         20   A.  I JUST HAD A THOUGHT.  I WANT TO MAKE SURE THAT ON THOSE

         21   ENABLING PROGRAMS -- I AM SPEAKING FROM THE P.C.'S COMPANY'S

         22   PERSPECTIVE -- IT DID NOT HAVE DESIGNATIONS IN THOSE

         23   PROGRAMS.

         24   Q.  OKAY.  BEFORE WE MOVE ON TO THAT, LET ME ASK YOU ONE

         25   MORE THING ABOUT EXHIBIT 2140, MR. SANTELLI'S LETTER TO
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          1   MR. KEMPIN FOLLOWING UP ON THE MEETING.

          2             ITEM NUMBER 12 ON YOUR DETAILED LIST, YOU WRITE,

          3   "WE WOULD ASK THAT YOU LOOK AT THE RESOURCE YOU HAVE

          4   COMMITTED TO IBM.  WITH THE ADDITIONAL ACTIVITY OUTLINED,

          5   IBM IS REQUESTING ADDITIONAL RESOURCES TO BE ACCESSED

          6   DIRECTLY TO MICROSOFT PRODUCT GROUPS.

          7             "ADDITIONALLY, WHILE WE KNOW YOUR OEM ACCOUNT

          8   REPRESENTATIVE" -- SINGULAR -- "WORKS DILIGENTLY ON BEHALF

          9   OF IBM, IT IS SIMPLY NOT ENOUGH AS WE OVERWHELM HIM WITH

         10   REQUESTS FROM THE VARIOUS BRANDS.  THUS, WE ARE ALSO

         11   REQUESTING THAT ADDITIONAL RESOURCES BE ADDED TO THE IBM OEM

         12   ACCOUNT TEAM."

         13             DO YOU SEE THAT?

         14   A.  YES, I DO.

         15   Q.  AND HOW, IF AT ALL, DOES THIS RELATE TO WHAT YOU

         16   DESCRIBED EARLIER IN THE HISTORY OF THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN

         17   MICROSOFT AND IBM OF MICROSOFT CUTTING THE IBM ACCOUNT TEAM

         18   FROM THREE REPRESENTATIVES DOWN TO ONE?

         19   A.  WE WERE VERY CONCERNED ABOUT NOT REPEATING WHAT HAD

         20   OCCURRED IN 1994 TO '95 -- FROM '95 TO '96, IN THAT WE

         21   DIDN'T HAVE THE PROPER COVERAGE IN ORDER FOR US TO GAIN FULL

         22   ACCESS INTO MICROSOFT.

         23             AND THAT IS NOT ONLY THROUGH THE OEM TEAMS THAT WE

         24   NEEDED TO ACCESS, WHICH BASICALLY CONTROLLED WHERE ELSE WE

         25   WENT INTO THE ACCOUNT -- WHERE ELSE WE WENT INTO
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          1   MICROSOFT -- BUT ALSO ACCESS INTO THE TECHNICAL COMMUNITY OF

          2   MICROSOFT, THE DEVELOPMENT COMMUNITY OF MICROSOFT, THE

          3   SUPPORT COMMUNITY, MARKETING AND THE SUPPORT COMMUNITIES.

          4             AT THIS TIME, I BELIEVE BABER WAS STILL ON THE

          5   ACCOUNT.  AND WOLFGANG STRUSS HAD JOINED US AT THE COMDEX

          6   MEETINGS.  IT WASN'T CLEAR WHETHER HE WOULD REMAIN A

          7   PERMANENT MEMBER OF THE TEAM AT THAT TIME, AND WE WERE STILL

          8   GOING THROUGH BABER.  SO THAT'S -- WE WANTED TO ENSURE THAT

          9   WE HAD COVERAGE, BECAUSE AT ANY GIVEN TIME, WE'D HAVE A

         10   NUMBER OF PEOPLE NEEDING TO TALK TO THEM.

         11   Q.  AND JUST SO I'M CLEAR, AS A GENERAL MATTER, DID YOU

         12   BELIEVE IT WAS IMPORTANT THAT YOU HAVE THE KIND OF RESOURCES

         13   YOU'RE DESCRIBING HERE IN ORDER TO BE ABLE TO DO THE THINGS

         14   WITH THE MICROSOFT RELATIONSHIP THAT YOU NEEDED TO DO?

         15   A.  THIS WAS ASKING FOR MINIMAL, YES.

         16   Q.  DO YOU RECALL WHETHER THERE WAS ANY RESPONSE FROM

         17   MR. KEMPIN TO MR. SANTELLI'S LETTER FOLLOWING UP ON THEIR

         18   MEETING?

         19   A.  THERE WAS A RESPONSE THAT CAME JANUARY 5TH OF THE

         20   FOLLOWING YEAR.

         21   Q.  OKAY.  LET ME ASK THAT YOU LOOK AT GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT

         22   2142.

         23             DO YOU RECOGNIZE EXHIBIT 2142?  I'M SORRY.  TAKE

         24   YOUR TIME TO LOOK AT IT, IF YOU NEED TO.

         25   A.  YES.  IT LOOKS LIKE THE FAX COPY SENT TO ME FROM TONY.
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          1   BUT IT IS A LETTER FROM JOACHIM KEMPIN TO TONY SANTELLI

          2   DATED JANUARY 5TH, 1996.

          3   Q.  AND THIS IS FOLLOWING UP TO MR. SANTELLI'S LETTER THAT

          4   WE WERE LOOKING AT A MOMENT AGO?

          5   A.  YES.

          6             MR. MALONE:  YOUR HONOR, I WOULD OFFER 2142.

          7             MR. PEPPERMAN:  NO OBJECTION, YOUR HONOR.

          8             THE COURT:  GOVERNMENT'S 2142 IS ADMITTED.

          9                                   (WHEREUPON, PLAINTIFFS'

         10                                   EXHIBIT NUMBER 2142 WAS

         11                                   RECEIVED IN EVIDENCE.)

         12   BY MR. MALONE:

         13   Q.  I TAKE IT FROM THE FAX NOTATION HERE THAT THIS IS A

         14   LETTER YOU SAW AT OR ABOUT THE TIME MR. SANTELLI RECEIVED

         15   IT?

         16   A.  YES.  HE FAXED IT TO ME.

         17   Q.  OKAY.  AND AS PART OF THE PROCESS OF TRYING TO DEVELOP A

         18   BETTER RELATIONSHIP, DID YOU AND OTHERS EXAMINE THE LETTER

         19   AND THE POSITIONS IN IT AND TRY TO DECIDE WHAT TO DO NEXT?

         20             MR. PEPPERMAN:  OBJECTION.  LEADING.

         21             MR. MALONE:  I WILL REPHRASE, YOUR HONOR.

         22   BY MR. MALONE:

         23   Q.  WHAT, IF ANYTHING, DID YOU AND OTHERS WORKING ON THE

         24   MICROSOFT RELATIONSHIP DO WITH THIS LETTER?

         25   A.  WE TOOK IT INTERNALLY AND ATTEMPTED TO DO AN ANALYSIS OF
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          1   THE CONTENTS OF THE LETTER TO UNDERSTAND WHAT THEIR RESPONSE

          2   WAS AND THEN WANTED TO TAKE THE NEXT STEPS TO MEET WITH

          3   MICROSOFT TO SEE IF WE COULD AGREE UPON THE AREAS THAT WE

          4   WANTED TO GO WORK ON.

          5   Q.  I WOULD LIKE TO ASK YOU ABOUT JUST A COUPLE OF THE

          6   SPECIFIC THINGS THAT MR. KEMPIN WRITES HERE IN RESPONSE TO

          7   MR. SANTELLI.

          8             ON THE FIRST PAGE, HIS ITEM "F," "IBM CANNOT BE A

          9   FRONTLINE PARTNER TODAY."

         10             DO YOU SEE THAT?

         11   A.  I DO.

         12   Q.  AND IS THAT A RESPONSE TO THE SIMILAR ITEM "F" IN

         13   MR. SANTELLI'S LETTER TO MR. KEMPIN?

         14   A.  YES.

         15   Q.  THERE MR. KEMPIN WRITES, "I FIRMLY BELIEVE THAT THE BEST

         16   SOLUTIONS TO CUSTOMERS AROUND THE WORLD WILL GET DELIVERED

         17   BY PARTNERS WHO CLOSELY COOPERATE AND SHARE COMMON GOALS.

         18             "AS LONG AS IBM IS WORKING FIRST ON THEIR

         19   COMPETITIVE OFFERINGS AND PREFERS TO FIERCELY COMPETE WITH

         20   US IN CRITICAL AREAS, WE SHOULD JUST BE HONEST WITH EACH

         21   OTHER AND ADMIT THAT SUCH PRIORITIES WILL NOT LEAD TO A MOST

         22   EXCITING RELATIONSHIP AND MIGHT NOT EVEN MAKE IBM FEEL GOOD

         23   WHEN SELLING SOLUTIONS BASED ON MICROSOFT'S PRODUCTS.

         24             "ON THE OTHER HAND, I BELIEVE THAT WITH THE P.C.

         25   COMPANY, THERE SHOULD BE WAYS TO COOPERATE."
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          1             DO YOU SEE THAT?

          2   A.  YES, I DO.

          3   Q.  AND HOW IS MR. KEMPIN'S STATEMENT HERE ABOUT IBM WORKING

          4   FIRST ON COMPETITIVE OFFERINGS AND PREFERRING TO FIERCELY

          5   COMPETE WITH MICROSOFT CONSISTENT WITH WHAT YOU HAD BEEN

          6   TOLD BY MICROSOFT REPRESENTATIVES IN THE PAST?

          7   A.  VERY CONSISTENT.

          8   Q.  IF YOU WOULD, PLEASE, LOOK AT THE SECOND PAGE OF

          9   MR. KEMPIN'S LETTER, THE ONE WITH THE NUMBER 5681 AT THE

         10   BOTTOM.  DO YOU SEE THAT?

         11   A.  5681?

         12   Q.  YES.

         13   A.  I DO.

         14   Q.  AND IF YOU WOULD, LOOK AT ITEM NUMBER 11, "IMPROVED OEM

         15   POSITION."  AND, AGAIN, IS THIS MR. KEMPIN'S RESPONSE TO THE

         16   SIMILAR ITEM 11 IN MR. SANTELLI'S LETTER TO HIM?

         17   A.  YES.

         18   Q.  MR. KEMPIN WRITES, "YOU ARE A VALUED OEM CUSTOMER OF

         19   MICROSOFT, WITH WHOM WE WILL COOPERATE AS MUCH AS YOUR

         20   SELF-IMPOSED RESTRAINTS ALLOW US TO DO SO."

         21             WHAT, IF ANY, UNDERSTANDING DID YOU HAVE OF WHAT

         22   MR. KEMPIN WAS REFERRING TO IN HIS LETTER OF IBM'S

         23   "SELF-IMPOSED RESTRAINTS"?

         24   A.  IBM COMPETING WITH MICROSOFT.

         25   Q.  WAS THERE A FOLLOW-UP DISCUSSION BETWEEN REPRESENTATIVES
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          1   OF IBM AND MR. KEMPIN FOLLOWING HIS JANUARY 5TH, 1996

          2   LETTER?

          3   A.  YES.  WE HAD A CONFERENCE CALL WITH KEMPIN, AND A FEW

          4   OTHERS FROM MICROSOFT, AND MYSELF AND A FEW OTHERS FROM IBM.

          5   Q.  DO YOU RECALL APPROXIMATELY WHEN THAT CALL TOOK PLACE?

          6   A.  LATER ON IN THE MONTH.  IT WAS TOWARDS THE END OF

          7   JANUARY.

          8             THE COURT:  WOULD THIS BE APPROPRIATE TIME TO

          9   RECESS FOR THE NOONTIME?

         10             MR. MALONE:  YOUR HONOR, I HAVE ABOUT TWO MORE

         11   MINUTES TO FINISH OUT THIS AREA, AND WE CAN RECESS THEN, IF

         12   THAT'S APPROPRIATE.

         13             THE COURT:  WHY DON'T YOU DO THAT?

         14   BY MR. MALONE:

         15   Q.  MR. NORRIS, LET ME QUICKLY SHOW YOU GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT

         16   2157.

         17   A.  OKAY.

         18   Q.  DO YOU RECOGNIZE 2157?

         19   A.  YES, I DO.

         20   Q.  AND WHAT IS IT?

         21   A.  IT IS AN E-MAIL SENT FROM TONY SANTELLI ON JANUARY 31 TO

         22   VARIOUS GENERAL MANAGERS AND EXECUTIVES IN THE P.C. COMPANY.

         23   Q.  AND THE SUBJECT IS "MICROSOFT FOLLOW-ON DISCUSSION WITH

         24   JOACHIM KEMPIN, 1/30."

         25   A.  JANUARY 30TH, 1996.
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          1             MR. MALONE:  YOUR HONOR, I WOULD OFFER GOVERNMENT

          2   EXHIBIT 2157.

          3             MR. PEPPERMAN:  NO OBJECTION, YOUR HONOR.

          4             THE COURT:  GOVERNMENT'S 2157 IS ADMITTED.

          5                                   (WHEREUPON, PLAINTIFFS'

          6                                   EXHIBIT NUMBER 2157 WAS

          7                                   RECEIVED IN EVIDENCE.)

          8   BY MR. MALONE:

          9   Q.  CAN YOU DESCRIBE YOUR ROLE, IF ANY, IN BOTH PREPARING

         10   FOR AND THE ACTUAL DISCUSSION THAT'S REFERRED TO HERE IN

         11   MR. SANTELLI'S E-MAIL?

         12   A.  YES.  I HAD DISCUSSIONS WITH MY OWN INTERNAL TEAM IN

         13   PREPARATION FOR THE CALL.  I BRIEFED TONY IN PREPARATION FOR

         14   THE CALL -- TONY SANTELLI.

         15             I HAD CONVERSATIONS WITH MICROSOFT ONCE OR TWICE

         16   BETWEEN JANUARY 5TH AND JANUARY 31ST IN PREPARATION FOR THE

         17   CALL.

         18   Q.  MR. SANTELLI BEGINS THE DESCRIPTION OF THE MICROSOFT

         19   FOLLOW-ON DISCUSSION WITH JOACHIM KEMPIN BY WRITING,

         20   "JOACHIM OPENED THE DISCUSSION EXPRESSING A STRONG CONCERN

         21   ABOUT IBM P.C. COMPANY BUNDLING LOTUS SMARTSUITE.  HE HAS

         22   TWO ISSUES; FIRST, WHY DIDN'T MICROSOFT GET A CHANCE TO

         23   COMPETE, AND SECOND, IT MAKES OUR ATTEMPT TO IMPROVE OUR

         24   RELATIONSHIP MORE DIFFICULT BECAUSE WHEN PCCO" -- I ASSUME

         25   THAT'S P.C. COMPANY?
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          1   A.  YES.

          2   Q.  "WHEN THE P.C. COMPANY WINS, LOTUS WINS AND MICROSOFT

          3   LOSES."

          4             DO YOU SEE THAT?

          5   A.  I DO.

          6   Q.  AND WHAT WAS YOUR UNDERSTANDING, IF ANY, ABOUT -- OF THE

          7   MEANING OF MR. KEMPIN'S STATEMENT THAT THE P.C. COMPANY

          8   BUNDLING SMARTSUITE MAKES IBM'S ATTEMPT TO IMPROVE -- EXCUSE

          9   ME -- MICROSOFT'S ATTEMPT TO IMPROVE ITS RELATIONSHIP WITH

         10   IBM MORE DIFFICULT?

         11   A.  THERE IS NO CHANGE TO THE THEME.  AS LONG AS WE WERE

         12   COMPETING, THE RELATIONSHIP WAS GOING TO BE DIFFICULT.

         13   Q.  I WILL SHOW YOU ONE LAST DOCUMENT VERY QUICKLY,

         14   GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT 328, ALREADY IN EVIDENCE.

         15             TAKE A MOMENT TO LOOK THIS OVER, IF YOU WOULD,

         16   PLEASE.

         17   A.  ALL RIGHT.

         18   Q.  THE BOTTOM E-MAIL APPEARS TO BE AN E-MAIL FROM BILL

         19   GATES TO MR. KEMPIN AND OTHERS ON MARCH 20TH OF 1994,

         20   CORRECT, SIR?

         21   A.  THAT'S CORRECT.

         22   Q.  AND MR. GATES WRITES THERE, "THIS IS ONE TOPIC I REALLY

         23   WANT TO TRY TO GET TO THE BOTTOM OF.  WHY DOES IBM HELP

         24   LOTUS SO MUCH?  IS THERE ANYTHING WE CAN DO ABOUT THIS?

         25   SHOULD IT BECOME AN ISSUE IN OUR GLOBAL RELATIONSHIP WITH
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          1   IBM?"

          2             DO YOU SEE THAT?

          3   A.  YES.

          4   Q.  AND -- NOW, THIS CAME AT A TIME BEFORE IBM HAD EVEN

          5   ACQUIRED LOTUS, CORRECT?

          6   A.  THAT'S CORRECT.  THIS WAS IN 1994.

          7   Q.  LOOK NOW, IF YOU WOULD, AT MR. KEMPIN'S RESPONSE TO

          8   MR. GATES.  IN THE THIRD LINE OF THAT RESPONSE, THERE'S A

          9   SENTENCE -- HE BEGINS WITH, "WE HAVE ENTERTAINED ANOTHER

         10   ROUND OF `PARTNERSHIP' TALKS WITH THE P.C. COMPANY AND

         11   MENTIONED THIS AS AN ISSUE, BUT THEY CLAIM THEY CAN'T FIX IT

         12   FOR US."

         13             DO YOU SEE THAT?

         14   A.  I DO.

         15   Q.  AND THEN FURTHER DOWN, THE LAST THREE LINES OF

         16   MR. KEMPIN'S E-MAIL, HE WRITES, "I AM UNSURE IF WE NEED TO

         17   SEE THIS AS AN ORGANIZATIONAL ISSUE OR AN OEM ISSUE.  I AM

         18   WILLING TO DO WHATEVER IT TAKES TO KICK THEM OUT, BUT

         19   STRONGLY BELIEVE WE NEED A WORLDWIDE HIT TEAM TO ATTACK IBM

         20   AS A LARGE ACCOUNT, WHEREBY THE OEM RELATIONSHIP SHOULD BE

         21   USED TO APPLY SOME PRESSURE."

         22             DO YOU SEE THAT?

         23   A.  YES, I DO.

         24   Q.  MR. NORRIS, IN YOUR EXPERIENCE WITH IBM, UP TO THE POINT

         25   IN TIME THAT WE'RE TALKING ABOUT, DID MICROSOFT USE ITS OEM
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          1   RELATIONSHIP TO APPLY PRESSURE TO IBM, RELATING TO WHAT IT

          2   DID WITH LOTUS?

          3   A.  YES.  THEY REPEATEDLY USED THE OEM RELATIONSHIP TO APPLY

          4   PRESSURE WHEREVER WE WERE COMPETING.

          5   Q.  AND AT THE POINT IN TIME WE'VE BEEN TALKING ABOUT, THAT

          6   "WHEREVER" WAS PRIMARILY LOTUS SMARTSUITE?

          7   A.  AND OS/2 IN MY EARLIER DAYS AS WELL.

          8             MR. MALONE:  THIS WOULD BE AN APPROPRIATE TIME,

          9   YOUR HONOR.

         10             THE COURT:  ALL RIGHT.  2:00 O'CLOCK.

         11             (WHEREUPON, THE ABOVE-ENTITLED MATTER WAS RECESSED

         12   FOR LUNCH AT 12:20 P.M.)
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